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e B AE w20 T Ay EAEMEEAS submission BEEE » A7 AFE (T H
i

4 DI EE Mr Pennicott BLEIKEHE—WEZEABMER > K
sofEEL prefer FGAEHE - (BB RKELMEEEL - 55— BLGRFEXR
F R e A A/ IR SR 5K BRI R R » MK F B G A KRR
A EERREE S 0 BE AR h AR SR ERET T DAS (R G > s T
I ELE S Rg OEE = (AL A L B — U 40 > IRAHEEME GO R E T

FEHEIE(ARFERTEE A » A A 1 48R ol (& X E 4 > FE 0T LA
BEEEEM - VEEFHSE —EEK - BT FE K B AR AE A A
T8 2 HH B Tt i 22 ol E P aE BRI RS AR R MG E 2 FEH AT
fo] fE B0 [5) B /K W [ (R 3 Wi {18l supplier BEFERG  FRMEFLARAE LN
2L e N IRERF ] =L > K52 Mr Pennicott {EEEEH GATRE M
ﬂEEE%Gé%Fﬁ?jﬂ?ﬁi‘%??jﬁ{%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂ%‘mk‘%% A A R (B 22 A S
o BC (B A - 25 2B UE (B PR EE > Mr Pennicott FEEE H UE R (B 225K -

P BEESE S o 5 R R L R

£ A B Mr Pennicott HUMAMEIETESC NEFERT » ERLE T
...
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ERE A5 WHORBE e (Ef T 2 — A UE RR
A r o IRee Tt G PR — PRI R (E IR AN S REE . ..

TR EFE—EFRE > MEA LT --URFREORBETE > FEE
BRI BT B B TR 2 N BIE AR L v > [
—RH o NIE LR o O TEEE a7 <[5 Ve (8 3 4% 22 517 57 Al g o
submission > fRIBEIEEE > AEWRE court & » TIEZIRAK
A EE AR RN o

MR PENNICOTT : Mr Chairman, if I may —-- obviously I wasn’t
here on Tuesday afternoon when you floated this idea
-- I, with the greatest of respect, have read the
English transcript and I have formed the view that,
with the greatest of respect, it is not precisely clear
what it is the Commission is asking the contractors
for. That’s borne out by the fact that, having
discussed it with my learned junior and my solicitors,
internally we disagree with precisely what it is the

Commission is asking for.

I have also discussed it with Mr McCoy, and he and
I can’t agree precisely what it is the Commission is
asking for. So we just thought, so there’s absolute
clarity internally, within each of the four
contractors, and externally, between the four
contractors, that we know precisely what it is that

the Commission is after.

We have no problem in principle in providing the
interim submissions, but we do think that absolute
clarity is required as to what the Commission wants.

TR M HEH X -

Mr Pennicott : On the second point, that’s just a logistical

question. If...
FRE B REEEFE—FEL > A FEEWNTE submission it o
MR PENNICOTT : Sure.
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FE ¢ oL EE B main contractors FE 5 — {f interim
submission » WE{f submission FL{AZHEFEF (M summary of
evidence ' main contractors f summary of evidence °

PR E B B 5 Z & 70 5t & submission Hi by f{E main
contractors Ejﬁﬁ%%)‘jé\ knowledge or lack of knowledge of

the use of non-lead-free solder o A& R B R EEIEHIDY
Wi > fZIK 2

Sru o PRAEBLEINED 8 AL AR AR R I - - ERZ A 0 TR
A5 R Ry e it A A (o] AR SO AR A BEIEE » A 28 Fe i 22 &1 m] DAEE - IR it 5 -
AW BRI {E main contractors JREMAEEFHIE submission
by {#l main contractors on f{f knowledge T ¥ lack of
knowledge of the use of non-lead-free solder by the
plumbing subcontractors -

In Wg —{i respect > T FE/RZE F 3 —{f summary of f§
subcontractors B evidence I} > from {f main contractors

{#l point of view:® okay?
Mr Pennicott : Yes.

FfE ¢ IR{E subcontractors HEEARFEEL - [N subcontractors
B involve IE AR {E{4 in persons B} subcontractors M4fE »
Pt AR 3R 2 BIUE — E L ERIE » AT LAFRHLEE main contractors #i
AR — T EEE submission » MUE— 7 HE"™E submission FLEE
i S A 2w o i 2 B TRt R SRS F 0 RN EL through K (E
secretaries « WHLIE G Ki{E submission {RURKME H FL (% BIHF (%
upload EZEIBE website Wi » K BBLIEIEE AL  Hiiz -
MR FERIERZE 2 1% » SLEEREES -

WE & Bt % F (558 B UE — @l 5 knowledge H(FH lack of
knowledge Wg— J7 [l EEMF EEIE  0ff K F(FT A evidence 522 1% -
main contractors JRENMAR T LAFA —{# submission B H A E
B g — £ 47 touch on WEWF > {RELA] DL--Z AR /& Housing
Authority ~ Water Supplies EE WM JE > FE el {# final
submissions W& FH:# -

MR PENNICOTT : Mr Chairman, it was the first part of that
that I was concerned with. We have no difficulty with
the knowledge point, both from the perspective of the

- 141 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



)

BKGHEREHAERERY 20161 H7H

main contractor’s evidence and such evidence as there
is from the subcontractors. It was the words which
were in the previous transcript on this point, and have
been repeated now, and these submissions Y“include

summaries of evidence of the main contractors”.

If that means summaries of all the evidence, on all
topics, that is not something that certainlymyclients
believe we can achieve by 5 February. Yes, we can do
the knowledge point, but Yinclude summaries of

evidence of the main contractors on all topics”...

T Pl ? ReEER - [N BIR contractors & 5Hf fiK b iEE
evidence I

MR PENNICOTT : No, no, no. So far as China State 1is
concerned, 1in terms of giving an interim submission
on the question of knowledge regarding leaded or
unleaded solder, no problem. But if, for example,
China State -- we’ve got all sorts of issues on Kai
Ching, not related specifically to the question of

knowledge of the main contractors.

L (R T e ? BN Housing BU{REE R (AIKE LN IR(E main
contracts vis-a-vis Housing Authorities HEWJHEFIE ?

MR PENNICOTT : Yes, all those types of issues.

T R L s G R o R Y B 1% 2 A A B2 R PR S /R E £inal
submission BEFEEIEE - /K vis—a-vis Housing Authority * {[
vis-a-vis > WIEH{REFEWEE - 503 water supply HHIYIHE
{RBR1Z M — part fRIc 25 » ROAES ? MM FMER L. ..

MR PENNICOTT : But is what you are asking, with respect,

simply on the question of knowledge, or does it go wider
than that?

FRE A FfR - I anticipate main contractors & M1 HfEF -
eI —{EFT5E interim submission MHE > FRAZELI(REE main
contracts between Housing Authority [H{F > China State
Construction impose MJtZHf liabilities (¥ impose W]

- 142 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHAERERY 20161 H7H

7 specifications on {RBf > {RBEELEERE discharge R
liabilities B(3 responsibilities B3 specifications:
PRAE PRIt iy e 0 > Fem A AR EEEIREE XL > SR BRI follow fRI
BE line of {RBEMH(E questioning  FEA FEE{4E5 " back to
back  BBRAIRE - | ERAEGEYE A THIME - (ROK ? BEIELE ? AAREAR
AR

FRDARMZ{E interim submission EHEFE{4 focus MaFr
so far §EF|--HE{E majority of {RMiM) cross-examination
#HARIEIE—JTE » Bl{% Housing Bf - {K so far [HBH{E deputy
director MN#f » B(E M --HEWH M RED o] AE a4 - REBEW L Z
o NAERMFE R EE#H(4 knowledge 6] lack of knowledge »
Rl Ry B e ? [y Housing ZEMYES 0] g A A 528 55 1L gf >
Housing K B Fc Bt HIE Wi {f assistant directors [&]H M (&
CBSE HI{&M4 2002 & 05 4 implement Wi $i%E > copper pipes
O] Pekt BT e ey A A SR > iy DAWE O TR (R U (S s -

S BRI o RETHE AR - HE AN R E RS E RSB FE A AR D

& DAL i 5 — B 7% T o 1 R {4 (B I T K o 1 T 2 B (R FH 0 — Ty
SRR - (hE T 2 KB HE T B A oK IE A I EE - 22 {E 5]

R b o pilEA el a] DU e E 4B wsD [F3 HA fH O WER A » 2
JEZ N i & B 31 > We — SRy 2 A i 2 - - e 0 o mL Rl
$F 2 KB FR AR TE R ”@“ﬂﬁﬂﬂfiﬁ%fﬁﬁigﬁﬂf@“ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂf  fHRE
K rErEBEBFTEEBMMU G N AMEEIEXNZE > 42 main
contractor » HATLL. ..

FJF ¢ [A3# subcontractor [ HEHET o

5 AW > main contractor HOHMIBEBEEHE - E5E W LLFE
HCOEE® > B summarise HCBEES AL EcE HM ARG HL > BENER
CHIIERT > BTN ZLAE B 5 (5 B 7 0 SRAE ATl - - M AREB SR - &
fEEMEE A GE T HEIRAERE o IEEENEEREE > WRERE T HRE
5 Golden Day HERIWEE - , (REEFA —MKFLEE " BB 5 &
Golden Day X1WEE > DA 481E > DAN&ABEGT o o LA 20 -

EE ¢ BRG] -

j={itg

e s TIRAIER ) [FHE T EREEREREL, o AR REEE - H
ML Bk

i

Rl {5

ER Ao Ak
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MR PENNICOTT : I am sure everybody is more clear than I am
about what’s required, and we can see what’s on the
transcript. I amstill concerned, I have to say, about
the words “and the submissions include summaries of
evidence of the main contractors”. I accept that I
am reading from the English transcript -- “and these
submissions include summaries of evidence of the main
contractors” -- what does that actually mean?
Followed by the second part which is the knowledge
point. We understand the knowledge point. It’s the
first point I am concerned about.

FJ§E Vis-a-vis the knowledge point I » {1E{R#EZ WL > okay ?
MR PENNICOTT : Fine. That’s helpful.

MRAEE T ERE o SRR HE{E submission on knowledge » Fhf&RIF(A

vis—-a-vis main contractor [H# subcontractor e

FJFE : Main contractor ® subcontractor o

M @ EE M [E subcontractor JEMEERZ R » BIAILBHME(E point

of viewo
T Ho R

MO D Summary of evidence Fi{AFTHA summary of F (& Z IR
PG 22 FHE L AT A E summary of {EREE[E S -

L IR so far BR(REEMREE XL IRED (R Ve Iy Z Wi -
Mok e
L ¢ (REE o DR -

PRI @ IE(R > Feot HE 0] DIA HAEE - (40K summary of evidence >
F1RREE Y knowledge ?

FE ARE L. ..
MG B summarise WFTAE KA. . .
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7M(§IE}§E: . @Uﬁﬂ@iﬂiﬂlﬂﬂﬁl{ system 1:%1?{ check ~ site check HH/\]%K{%EJ
Pig—1l issue BRHEE -

LG ¢ HE DR AL E E AR IREE knowledge ZUif > UEIENS ?
PRIl T B

LG DRIARMEE > (RME - (RORERHEEE

PRIEAE © 4F e

T FBiE R ZH L F technical AF|% define 30 - - R B EL
WREIEE - N 28 T 055 0 e (18] P B T 7 o i 1 OB 3 (- e — Ty T DR I 5
A2 U e ) RS SR R~ S g R R I L B B i R R e 5 0 R IR R E
FE—{E terms of reference ° BI{REA T Bt 52 Tk 0H it - %k
LIFE —1{E terms of reference f evidence EMEZ » 4[5 FE
I REED ~ PR M E R » SO —(EVKMEIT - WL 22 0E 25 T 4% 50 I V4R I
i > HBK 2 (AT NERE ?

MR PENNICOTT : Mr Chairman, on a separate point, which is
the logistical point, I am very reluctant, I have to
say, to say to you today that we can undertake to do
this exercise by 5 February. I certainly hope we can,
and we will, but as Mr Shieh has indicated, we know
broadly speaking what’s happening next week, if I can
put it that way. What we don’t know is what’s
happening in the three weeks after that, leading up
to 5 February.

Each of the main contractors are being asked to do
this exercise, have got to deploy their resources both
here at the hearing and doing the submissions and
speaking to people and analysing evidence, and so forth.
So it would be helpful to know what’s happening as soon
as possible. If that indication can be given early
next week, then presumably this can then be resolved
and we can say “yes” or “no” to 5 February or perhaps
ask for a few more days or whatever the position may
be.
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Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

Thursday, 7 January 2016

(10.33 am)

(Transcript of simultaneous interpretation
except where otherwise specified)
MS LAM LAI KING (on former oath)
Cross—-examination by MR KHAW (continued)

MR KHAW: Ms Lam, yesterday I asked you about your previous
work experience. I didn't make myself very clear for
one of the parts and I want to clarify that with you.

In the same paragraph of your witness statement, you
said you graduated from secondary 5 and you joined
Golden Day Engineering Co Ltd in 1988.

When did you graduate from secondary 57

A. As far as I remember, around 1980.

Q. In your first job, did you work with Mr Yung? According
to what your former boss said, you worked there for
seven to eight years?

A. It was around five to six years and after that I was on
another job before.

Q. So you were on another job before you joined Golden Day;
right? So the subsequent job was also related to
plumbing?

A. No.

Q. What kind of job was it?

A. I worked in a textiles factory.
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Commission of Inquiry into

Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

Q. So what was the nature of your job?

A. I was a clerk.

Q. In the final part of the questioning yesterday, apart
from procurement and documentation, you were also
involved at times with tendering?

A. Yes, in the past few years.

Q. Are you referring to the past three or four years?

A. Yes.

Q. For Wing Cheong Estate and Tung Wui Estate, for these
projects, at that time, you were involved in the
tendering exercise; right?

A. Are you referring to the years or --

Q. The work sites.

A. I'm not sure.

Q. Mr Cheung is the boss of the company and you would
report to him; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, for Mr Yung, would you consider Mr Yung your
supervisor at work?

A. Yes.

Q. Why would you have such a feeling, that Mr Yung is your
supervisor?

A. His position has always been manager.

Q. Both of you are directors of the company and you would

sign certain documents. You were both directors but you
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Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

would still consider him your supervisor; is that
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. In the company's daily operations, whenever he issued
instructions, you would follow them; right?

A. Yes.

Q. If he gave you an instruction but you found it
problematic, would you discuss with him? Would you feel
that you don't necessarily have to follow the order?

A. Yes.

Q. So, in terms of the grade, do you feel that he's of
a higher rank than you?

A. Yes, he is of a higher rank and he is more experienced
than me.

Q. Your office is located in Wai Ching Street in Jordan.
How long had the company been there?

A. Around 20 years. I'm not very sure.

Q. So it's been quite some time. How big is the office?

A. Around 700 to 800 square feet.

Q. And during day-to-day operations, how many staff do you
have?

A. Are you referring to the past or the present?

Q. Let's say the last four to five years.

A. Well, people come and go, so we can only talk about

rough figures.
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Q. What about during the time of the Wing Cheong Estate
project?

A. So what time are you talking about?

Q. Around 2011 to 2012. Can you give us a rough figure?

A. Around five to six.

Q. So that includes yourself, Ms Mok, Mr Patrick Wong, the
three of you. Did you include Mr Yung in that, in the
number of staff?

A. Yes.

Q. And the owner or the boss. Who else?

A. Mr Lau.

Q. What was his position?

A. Mr Lau and Mr Yung dealt mainly with the sites.

Q. Was Mr Lau also a project manager?

A. Apparently no, but he would follow up on certain site
works.

Q. So his nature of work was similar to Mr Yung-?

A. Yes.

Q. You said there were five to six staff in the office. So
you were one of the staff who could communicate and
write in English; right? What about Ms Mok?

A. Her English is all right.

Q. What about Mr Wong-?

A. Yes, he is all right as well.

Q. So, in terms of correspondence, emaill correspondence in
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English, the three of you would be responsible; right?
What about other staff?

A. I'm not very sure for other staff, like Mr Lau.

Q. You said you were involved in the tendering process.
I would like to point you to bundle L1, page 21. Do you
see that this is a declaration from the tenderer and
attention to Paul Y General Contractors Ltd, and this is
for the Wing Cheong Estate project at Sai Chuen Road,
and the works contracted out is the plumbing works. We
have an annex Al, and below that you see the name of the
tenderer, and then we see the chop of Golden Day. The
person in charge of the company, there's a small stamp
with the words "Golden Day" and "Judi Lam", which is
yourself?

A. Yes.

Q. And that was your signature?

A. Right.

Q. And the position was director, and the date was January
2011.

Now let's look at the content of the declaration.

It says —-- it proves that the company as subcontractor
clearly understands that the documents listed in the
table below would not be attached to the tendering
document and the subcontract. But those documents would

form part of the tendering documents and subcontract for
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this project, and the company/subcontractor have read
those documents during the tendering exercise and
understand clearly all relevant requirements and
provisions.

Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Now let's look at the table, and there are a few
tendering documents or contracts, including works
progress and plans, specification and requirements,
quality assurance and so on. So you signed this
document for the Wing Cheong Estate project. You
confirmed that you have read all these documents.

So, for Wing Cheong Estate, had you read these
contractual documents; for example, specifications and
terms of contract?

A. No.

Q. In other words, you had no chance to read these
documents?

A. Right.

Q. Did anyone tell you that these documents existed? Did
you know that there was a general contract and there
were tendering documents? Did you know of the existence
of such documents? Well, your company specialises in
plumbing subcontracts, so I assume you knew that there

was a main contract and subcontracts?
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A.

If I signed on it, of course I knew that there were such
documents.

As director of the company, the document said the
subcontractor knows very well the provisions of these
documents and they know about the specifications, but
what you are saying now is that you didn't know about
these but yet you signed on the document. You worked
with Golden Day for so many years. Had there been cases
in which -- or had there been projects in which you had
read any documents on the specifications of plumbing
works; for example, the requirements on materials
required?

I read some of them.

So which are the documents you have read?

For the main materials, especially those on the Water
Supplies Department's list, I would look at the
specifications.

So you are referring to document 3467

But honestly speaking, we would only look at private
jobs, for the housing jobs.

Over the years, I feel -- I don't know when they
would change, so we would just follow our previous
practice.

So you referred to private projects. You say there

might be a lot of changes?
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A. Each consultant -- we don't do a lot of private
projects, and when we do take on private projects, over
the last couple of years I have looked at them and
I discovered they have a set of specifications for
private projects.

Q. As you said, in your experience, you don't have a lot of
private projects. The majority of your work is related
to public housing estates. So we are now talking about
housing, and just now we were referring to the Water
Supplies Department's list and materials. You might
have looked at those documents. But are you aware that
regarding public housing estate building projects, the
plumbing engineering works, that you are required to
submit samples to the Housing Department or Housing
Authority for confirmation? Are you aware of this
condition?

A. Yes.

Q. So, when you submit the sample for approval, you should
be aware that the Housing Authority have some
specification requirements regarding the plumbing,
regarding the material and components; are you aware of
this?

A. Yes.

Q. The Housing Authority or Housing Department, regarding

the component and material specifications, have you read
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documents relating to these specifications?

A. Are you referring to all plumbing material?

Q. Yes. That is, Housing Department, they have set some
specifications and related documents. Have you read
those?

A. Specification documents stipulated by Housing
Department?

Q. Just now you said that you are aware that the Housing
Department have plumbing material components, they have
a set of specifications; you are aware of that. So my
question was, the Housing Department, they have some
specifications -- you are aware of that -- have you read
these documents? Say, for example, the pipe has to have
certain standards. Have you read these types of
documents?

A. Yes.

Q. When you read these documents, have you read soldering
material specifications?

A. I was not aware.

Q. You have never read those?

I would like to show you a document. When Mr Yung
gave evidence, I had showed him this as well. 1It's
page 972 of F2.

This relates to Phase 2 of Hung Hom and Ma Hang

Park, that project. China State Construction had
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provided you with a memorandum, and inside it said you
submitted some soldering material samples for approval.
Well, you have been in this business for so long. You
worked with Housing Department projects. You are aware
that soldering materials need approval; you are aware of
this, right?

A. I am not sure whether they need approval, soldering
material needs approval.

Q. Well, I would like to show you -- here we have a sample
submission approval. Here we have a plumbing works, and
there's a box that needs to be checked, and it says it
has to be approved by the Housing Department, and then
we have a sample submission form. Then in the following
page we have the sample submission approval form. At
the top of the page it says, "Sample submission and
approval form". Have you seen these types of forms?

A. I cannot recall.

Q. You cannot recall at all?

A. Well, even if I did, it wasn't my responsibility.

Q. It doesn't matter. I would like to ask you -- please
turn to page 976. The printing quality isn't that good.
There are some pictures there. Do you see in the top
picture it says "Powerflow flux"; do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you seen this object in your work?
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A. Well, I don't recall seeing this.

Q. Not at all?

A. Not at all.

Q. Then below we have "Lead-free solder FRY". Have you
seen a similar object? We have a reel, the real thing
here. (Indicating).

A. Well, I have seen this one. When you said previously,
when did I see this, and was I aware of what this was --
I didn't know back then, but of course I knew after the
incident occurred.

Q. Take a look at this green object (indicating). You say
you have seen that. So the incident occurred after July
2015, and you say you have seen this green roll, this
solder wire. So before July 2015, do you recall seeing
this object?

A. I am not sure.

Q. Well, you have worked in Golden Day, and you have worked
on so many Housing Department projects, and you totally
cannot recall whether you have seen this before July
20157

A. It's because they have a lot of these minor metal
hardware. They have samples submitted. And I'm not the
one responsible so I don't take delivery of these.

Q. So, when the samples are sent to the company, are you

present, usually, at the time?
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A. Not necessarily.

Q. Sometimes you are there, sometimes you are not. But
when the material has been delivered, and you need to
process the samples -- we are talking about
Prosperity -- they will deliver some samples to your
company; right?

A. Yes, sometimes they will deliver directly.

Q. If they delivered to your company, you say that you
didn't pay special attention to this material.

I would also like to direct you to page 979. This
is a document from Prosperity Building Materials. You
have found page 979? It describes the product. We see
"Product name".

A. Yes.

Q. It says "FRY lead-free solder wire 99C".

Do you recall seeing these types of documents?

A. I can't recall seeing these.

Q. Then let's move on to page 981. Have you seen these
types of pamphlets?

A. I have never seen these.

Q. Over the years you have not seen these?

A. No.

Q. Lastly, I would like to direct you to page 987. This is
also from Prosperity Building Materials, and they have

a pamphlet regarding solder material. It says "Major
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A.

job reference", it says "FRY flux and lead-free solder
wire". It lists construction site names. Have you seen
these types of documents?

I have never seen them but I know they would have these
documents.

How would you know they have these documents?

Actually, each product, if they have to provide

a submission, they would have to provide this type of
document, but I have never seen this document.

Have you seen the solder strips, tin strips, and these
boxes? (Indicating). It says "50 lead UK tin strip".
You have no recollection?

No, I have never seen these.

I would like to ask you: in engineering projects, you
know there is a sample submission process, so when the
samples have been approved, that is the Housing
Department has approved them and the main contractor
will tell you which samples have been approved, and you
can start procuring, then somebody in your company
should notify you or liaise with you because you are
responsible for procuring? For example, in Wing Cheong
Estate, the Housing Department has approved these
materials, the samples have been approved, you can go
start procuring. Who would notify you of that?

If you are referring to special samples, it's Mr Yung.
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Q.

A.

He would telephone you, or would he tell you
face-to-face in the office?

Both.

So you have to procure a lot of material for each
engineering project? We are talking about dozens of
materials that you need to purchase from Prosperity;
right?

Are you saying that there are dozens of things we need
to procure? I cannot be sure how many.

Well, you have worked in the procurement department for
very long, so are there more than 20 types?

But you are just saying -- you are referring to
Prosperity. I'm not sure.

Weren't you in contact with Prosperity?

Yes. I don't know how you classify. There are lots and
lots of products. Would you call drill bits one type
and this another bit? So what do you mean by what
category?

Well, let's say soldering material, one type, and pipes
and tubes are one category. So if you were to procure
from Prosperity, we would have minor metal hardware, we
would have copper tubes and pipes, and so on, so there
would be quite a lot of material that you have to
procure from them; right?

If you include minor metal hardware, and so on.
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Q.

So you say Mr Yung would tell you, "We have some
material samples that have been approved", and then you
would place orders. How would you place orders? Would
you have a checklist that identifies which materials
were approved and you can proceed according to the
checklist?

We would have to refer to the Water Supplies Department
form, otherwise we wouldn't be able to submit the

material.

CHAIRMAN: It's WWO46? But that form is constantly amended.

So, when you submit the form, we are aware you submit
one form, but when it comes down to actual work, you
might have a new 1list?

As far as I recall, I'm not sure. I feel that regarding
our plumbing material, we -- for example, copper tubes,
plastic tubes, the valves and so on, our company, once
we have submitted, we don't change it a lot. But there
are also a lot of projects, sanitary projects, we are
not responsible for procuring that, and I know that they
keep changing that. But for plumbing, we don't change

a lot.

CHAIRMAN: For sanitarywares, you didn't procure them;

A.

right? Now we are just focusing on things ordered by
your company.

As far as I remember, we seldom made amendments.
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CHAIRMAN: Apart from those listed on the annex of part 1 of
WWO46, apart from those plumbing parts, you had to
purchase a number of small fittings as well. Did the
Housing Department ever issue any checklist for you to
follow?

A. I have not seen anything like that.

MR KHAW: For solder, have you ever been shown any documents
instructing you to order such material?

CHAIRMAN: It could be a list or a fax or something like
that.

A. No, as far as I remember.

MR KHAW: Now let's look at paragraph 5 of your witness
statement. L1, page 150. In paragraph 5, you said --
now, let's look at this together:

"Mr Hui Wang San and Mr Chau See Ming were both site
supervisors of Golden Day. Mr Hui was in charge for
second phase of Hung Hom Estate and Wing Cheong Estate
Phase, he was responsible for the plumbing works and
Mr Chau was responsible for the plumbing works of
Tung Wui Estate. When the need arises, Mr Hui and
Mr Chau would call myself or Ms Mok to tell us the
quantities of solder required and the delivery dates."

Now, let's pause here. We are dealing with Hung Hom
Estate and Wing Cheong Estate. You received calls from

Mr Hui and Mr Chau, telling you the quantities of solder
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required and the delivery dates; do you remember that?

A. Yes.

Q. That's what you said in your witness statement?

A. Yes.

Q. When they called you, when they told you that they
needed solder, how did they describe the issue? How did
they describe the solder? Let's just focus on solder.
Did they mention soldering or tin strips?

A. What they said had been different every time. For the
same thing or item, they had many ways of calling it.
So we merely wrote and issued orders according to what
they said.

Q. You said they had many different ways of describing it?

A. Sometimes they call it tin strips, sometimes they call
it solder, and sometimes they call it something else.

I felt that they were referring to the same thing. They
mentioned solder, tin strips.

Q. You said there were many ways, but you only mentioned
two ways, solder and tin strips. What else?

A. Sometimes they called it soldering wires.

Q. Are you sure they called it soldering wires sometimes?

A. Are you referring just to these three work sites?

Q. Yes, let's just focus on these sites.

A. I am not sure.

Q. Now, in paragraph 7 of your witness statement -- let's
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look at paragraph (a) (ii). You said:

"According to the instructions of the site
supervisors, Mr Hui and Mr Chau, I ordered the
quantities of solder required from Prosperity Building.
If the site supervisors asked for soldering strips,

I would order soldering strips. If the site supervisors
asked for soldering wire, I would order soldering wire."

So you made this very clear in your witness
statement, that if they asked for wires, you would order
wires, and if they asked for strips, you would order
strips, but now you say you are not sure whether they
mentioned soldering wires. So did they ever mention
soldering wires?

A. I think they should have mentioned it.

Q. Can you be more sure; "yes" or "no"?

A. Yes.

Q. If they sometimes refer to soldering strips and
sometimes refer to soldering wires, as a staff of the
procurement department, these are two different things.
You knew that these were two different things?

A. No, I thought they were the same thing.

Q. So that's strange. In your witness statement, you said
if they ask for soldering strips, you would order

strips; if they ask for tin soldering wires, you would

order wires. These are two different things.
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A.

I thought this is just a difference in name. A lot of
parts have different names. A lot of parts have
different names but they all refer to the same component
or parts. So I just wrote down whatever they said, and
after the items were delivered, they did not mention any
issues.

You said you didn't know how to make such

a distinguishment. Soldering strips are long strips,
but wires are wires. As a staff of the procurement
department for so many years, now you are telling us
that they are the same thing and there's no difference
whatsoever; is that what you are saying?

Yes.

Now, if they mention soldering strips, let's look at the
procurement of soldering strips. How did they describe
the quantity? You mentioned quantity. How did they

describe the quantity of soldering strips required?

CHAIRMAN: What was the unit of the quantity?

A.

The number of boxes. Sometimes they would refer to the

number of boxes needed.

MR KHAW: Were there any other ways of describing the

A.

A.

quantity?
I cannot recall.
Did they ever mention the number of rolls?

Probably, yes.
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Q.

A.

Did they ever mention the number of pounds?

Probably, yes.

CHAIRMAN: Or the number of bundles?

MR KHAW: Or the number of boxes or cartons?

A.

They would use those descriptions when they order the
items.
So, from your understanding, how many rolls would there
be in a box?
I'm not sure.
So what you mean is, if they refer to the number of
rolls, you would relay that to Prosperity; you would not
make any distinguishment on how many rolls there would
be in one box or carton or so on?
Yes.
What about soldering wires? If they refer to soldering
wires, what was the unit used?
It's the same, the number of boxes, the number of
cartons.
So, whether for soldering strips or wires, they refer to
the number of boxes or rolls?
I'm not sure if they ever refer to the number of pounds
or weight.
Now let's look at paragraph 6:

"After receiving a call from the site supervisors,

Mr Hui and Mr Chau, myself or Ms Mok would order the
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items from Prosperity by way of phone calls or purchase
orders."

Sometimes, you would make phone calls or send
purchase orders to Prosperity?

A. Yes.

Q. So when would you order by phone and when would you
order by purchase orders?

A. There's no definite answer. Sometimes, when we are
busy, we would make calls.

Q. So it depends on time; right?

A. It depends on the urgency. If it's urgent, then we
might make calls.

Q. Then you said:

"When the site supervisors called to ask for solder,
they did not specifically mention that the solder is to
be used for fresh water pipe connections. So, when
I made the order to Prosperity, I did not mention that
the solder required would be used to connect fresh water
pipes."

So, as you know, apart from being used in fresh
water pipes, where else can the solder be used then?

A. I don't know.
Q. You said you had ordered from Prosperity for so many
years. Do you think that Prosperity knew that the

solder ordered would be used for fresh water pipes?
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A. I'm not sure. I cannot speak on their behalf.

Q. Now let's look at the relevant receipts. Let's look at
S1, page 84. This is one of your purchase orders. You
said in your witness statement that you had read this
purchase order. It was prepared by Ms Mok.

A. Yes.

Q. Now let's look at page 86. This purchase order was also
prepared by Ms Mok?

A. Yes.

Q. Page 93, also a purchase order. Was it also prepared by
Ms Mok?

A. Yes.

Q. Now let's go back to page 84. You said it was prepared
by Ms Mok. Now let's look at the bottom-left corner.
You see the words "Prepared by"; right?

A. Yes.

Q. And there's a signature. Was it Ms Mok's signature?

A. Yes.

Q. What about the words above that, the words "Soldering
strips"; was it written by her? Was it her writing?

A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Let's now look at some invoices on pages 82 and 83. We

see it says, on page 82 -- it's an invoice from
Prosperity. The contact person is Ms Lam, accounting

department; that's you. And here it says "UK 50 lead
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tin strips". Page 83 is also an invoice addressed to
your company you are the contact person, and it's also
"UK 50 lead tin strip".

So if it was not drafted by Ms Mok, if the POs were
drafted by you, how would you describe the soldering
material? Let's look at page 84. Let's say if it
weren't drafted by Ms Mok -- because it's not Ms Mok's
sole responsibility -- if you drafted this PO, how would
you describe the soldering material?

A. Well, it would depend on the project manager, what he
said on the phone call. We have to write down verbatim
what they said.

Q. During the preparation of these purchase orders, were
the brand names mentioned?

A. Are you referring to soldering material? As far as
I recall, no.

Q. Over the years, none at all; no brand names were
mentioned?

A. No, I don't think so.

Q. Let's look at page 98 of the same bundle. You said it
was drafted by Ms Mok, that purchase order. It was her
signature, her handwriting.

Do you see item 2, "High-temperature tin strips"?
So have you heard from Mr Hui, Mr Chau, high-temperature

tin strips?
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A. Yes, I have heard of that.

Q. Do you think this high-temperature tin strip and tin
wire, there is any difference?

A. No, no difference.

Q. So you would write down verbatim what you heard?

A. Yes.

Q. I would like to ask, these documents, in your witness
statement you said the goods would be delivered to the
construction site. You don't work on the construction
site, so when the goods are delivered to the site, you
can't see the goods. So, when the goods are delivered,
you would receive a document from Prosperity, indicating
goods were delivered. They would send you a delivery
note to your company?

A. Yes. Well, usually we get a set of documents every
month. We get a stack of documents.

Q. Including a delivery note?

A. Including delivery notes, yes.

CHAIRMAN: Does your company keep the construction site

delivery notes? So when the goods are sent to the
construction site, it's signed, they take delivery -- do
they also keep a set of the notes, the documents?

No, they don't. Sometimes they bring it back. If they
remember to bring it back, they will bring it back.

Sometimes they forget, sometimes it's misplaced. So
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usually the invoices are sent to our office.

MR KHAW: So, when you receive a delivery note from
Prosperity, you would take a look; right?

A. I'd look at the amount.

Q. Are you aware tin strips and tin wire are of a different
price?

A. Now I'm aware.

Q. Well, at the time, you said you would take a look. You
would see that tin wire and tin strips are of
a different price?

A. Well, I'm not sure, and every month I wouldn't compare
the monthly invoices and compare prices.

Q. Well, when you inspected these invoices, were you aware
that the tin strip and tin wire were of a different
price? Well, when you look at the invoices, you would
see tin strips, it is described as "UK 50 tin strip";
you would see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And you have also come across lead-free tin wire, at
page 79 of bundle Sl1; can you see that? It says "UK FRY
lead-free tin wire".

If you flip over to page 85, you will see "UK 50
lead tin strip".
So you'll collect these invoices, you'll take a look

at them, so you should have seen there is a solder wire
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called lead-free FRY and there's also a UK 50 lead tin
strip. So you have seen these?

A. Usually, I look at the --

CHAIRMAN: Could you speak up, please.

A. Usually, we get these every month, we get a stack every
month. It's a large stack and it would include a lot of
documents. It contains information I know and
information I don't know. There are a lot of
categories. They are very complex to be me. So usually
I won't look at them one by one. I will just look at
how much we have to pay.

CHAIRMAN: So you are saying that previously, regarding tin
strips or tin wire, your evidence is that prior to the
lead in water incident you were not aware how they
described solder strip; is what you are saying?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: You didn't pay attention to that and you never
focused on that? You would only look at the amount of
money that was outstanding?

A. Yes.

MR KHAW: Just now, you said you received a stack of
documents. There might be different materials. So,
when the invoices came, was there a total amount
indicating how much you had to pay?

A. Yes.
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Q.

So I would like to ask you: would you flip through those
pages, or would you just look at the total amount and
pay the outstanding moneys?

Well, I would check to see if it really contained all
those invoices.

In your response to the chairman, you said you might not
have paid notice to product name.

What I mean is each invoice, the amount, the product --
I would not look at the product name. I would just look
at the total amount, and in the monthly statement, they
would state the total amount, and I would check the
figures.

Hang on. You said you would look at the total amount
and you would be aware how much was outstanding. Then,
when you look at the monthly statement, so it would list
all the invoices?

Yes.

And you would see whether that invoice existed?

Yes.

Then you looked at the invoice number, and you would not
check the individual amounts?

Well, I would look at the invoice, the total amount, and
the monthly statement -- the monthly statement is very
simple. It just has a date and the invoice number and

the invoice amount. I would look at these.
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Q. So you said there was a delivery note, an invoice?

A. Yes.

Q. So, if you didn't check the delivery note against the
invoice, then you would never know whether they really
delivered so many goods. Wouldn't you think it was
necessary to check? For example, if they delivered less
than what they stated, you wouldn't know?

A. Well, they delivered less, or if it was incorrect or if
there were any problems, well, the construction site
supervisor would notify me.

Q. Well, as one member of the procurement team, don't you
think it was necessary, from an accounting standpoint,
that is, when you receive an invoice, you should check
against the delivery note to see if they match? That is
a basic requirement.

A. Well, at that time, it never crossed my mind.

CHAIRMAN: I would like to ask a question. Regarding
soldering material, you are saying the Housing
Department would approve soldering material, and there
was no email notification, there was no checklist?

A. Mr Yung would notify me.

CHATIRMAN: No document?

A. No, there was no document.

CHAIRMAN: No black and white paper document?

A. I have never seen such documents.

-28 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

CHAIRMAN: So, when you placed orders, it was just based on
the site supervisor, and you would place his order on
his behalf. So these invoices, you had not checked
against the product name, that is with regard to
soldering materials. So, in other words, you have very,
very limited knowledge about soldering materials; is
that correct?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: Then I have a question. When Mr Yung tells you
that you need to indicate something is lead-free, how
would you begin?

A. Excuse me, could you repeat the question?

CHAIRMAN: Mr Yung told you to prepare some fraudulent
delivery notes, and it had to be lead-free. If you have
never seen the stuff and you don't know what stuff is
used, how would you begin?

A. Are you referring to the four notes? When those four
notes occurred, we already knew of the excess lead in
drinking water, and at that time I knew that there was
a difference.

CHAIRMAN: But if you don't know the brand name, how would
you identify the notes? So you are saying you were just
so lucky to find four odd notes and you found notes that
said the description of FRY lead-free, and so you did

a cut and paste job and attached that?
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A. Well, after I identified these notes, and I realised
there was a difference, because of the excess lead in
water incident, and then I would find the most recent
material.

CHAIRMAN: The most recent? When was that? July? Now?

You had already submitted a report in July.

A. At the time, during that time frame, that construction
site -- we are now talking about July, so in July we got
out the receipts from that construction site, at around
that time frame, and I looked at what was relevant, and
our recent material was all the FRY solder wire.

CHAIRMAN: So did Mr Yung tell you, "You'd better go check
your invoices and find a lead-free one and do a cut and
paste”", or were you already aware what to do?

A. To be honest, I cannot recall my exact conversation with
him, but I remember that what he meant was he wants
invoices or receipts of lead-free soldering wire so,
"Please come up with them in whatever way. I want these
receipts."

CHAIRMAN: 1In other words, you knew what to do?

A. Yes, I tried to dig up some receipts in July. I looked
at the receipts of the projects in July.

CHAIRMAN: We don't have copies of your receipts from July,
so I did not know what kind of items you ordered at that

time. So what you mean is that in July last year, you
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had invoices of FRY lead-free solder, so you used them?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: Please go on.

MR KHAW: Yesterday, Mr Yung said that staff of the company,

including Ms Mok and Ms Lam, they knew that FRY was
unleaded solder. Do you agree?

A. No.

Q. From the evidence you are giving today, you said you

were completely unaware, when you ordered from

Prosperity, what brands the products would be, and you

didn't know whether they are lead-free?

A. Yes.

Q. Also, you were unaware of the Housing Department's
requirements on solder?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. 1In your witness statement, the most crucial

point in page 3, (b) (ii), on Wing Cheong Estate --

I would like to look at that. You just said you cannot

recall your conversation with him, but I want to put

some questions to you. You said:

"From my memory, after the lead in water incident at

Kai Ching Estate and extensive media coverage, at around

16 July 2015, at that time Mr Yung Kwok Choi, project

manager of Golden Day, called me multiple times, and he

said that on the request of Paul Y General Contractors,
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they needed to provide the procurement record for
soldering material from Golden Day for Wing Cheong
Estate."

Let's pause here. You said it occurred around
16 July last year. So you had this conversation before
16 July, and it took place before 16 July. Did Mr Yung
tell you that some people were already investigating the
lead in water incident? Did he mention that to you?

A. No, as far as I remember.

CHAIRMAN: Because you knew it already; is that the reason?

A. I knew. I heard it from the news already.

MR KHAW: All right. So you heard it from the news. So,
before 16 July, you already heard it from the news. Did
you ever discuss this issue with Mr Yung, on the lead in
water incident, and did you discuss whether your company
might be held liable? Have you ever had such
a conversation?

CHAIRMAN: Well, the correct word was "involved" or
"involvement".

A. I cannot recall.

MR KHAW: Now, from your memory, your first conversation
with Mr Yung on this lead in water incident was on
16 July?

A. I wasn't sure whether it was the first conversation, but

he called me that day.
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Q. When he called you and told you that Paul Y made
an enquiry with him, you knew that; right?

A. Yes.

Q. At that time, was he nervous?

A. Yes.

Q. At that time, did he tell you that he's worried that
your company might be involved? Did he say something
like that?

A. I don't remember whether he said something like that.

Q. Did he ever tell you that, "Our company might get into
problems"? Did he ever say anything like that?

A. I remember that he told me that Paul Y wants some
receipts, but I don't remember the exact details of each
conversation.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, let me interrupt. You resigned from the
position of director in early July 2015. So, by early
July, are you referring to any time before the 1l6th, in
other words after the outbreak of the lead in water
incident? So you quit before 16 July; right?

A. I cannot recall the exact date.

CHAIRMAN: It doesn't matter. So you resigned before
16 July; right? 1Is that correct?

A. Yes, I think.

CHAIRMAN: Your boss, Mr Cheung Tat Yam, he was in mainland

China between 16 and 26 July. Was he afraid of the
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journalists, or was it just a leisure trip, a personal
trip?

A. Yes, he planned for holiday, so it was only a
coincidence.

MR KHAW: When he first talked to you, he said Paul Y needs
those receipts. Did he mention what kind of receipts
required?

A. Records of soldering material for Wing Cheong Estate.

Q. He was very specific; right? Was he referring to the
delivery notes or invoices?

A. It was delivery notes. Or maybe he referred to either
delivery notes or invoices.

Q. Yesterday, you said those records would be disposed of
after auditing, and he asked for delivery notes. So, at
that time, were you worried that those might be disposed
already? Did you tell Mr Yung?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. What was his reaction?

A. He said, "Try your best. Can you come up with some --
can you dig out some miscellaneous notes? Can you try
your best to find them?"

Q. He said Paul Y needs to see those records and he asked
you to find those delivery notes. Were you nervous at
that time? Were you afraid?

A. Yes, I guess.
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Q.

So what were you afraid of? Were you worried that you
might have made mistakes?

I was worried whether the company would get into issues
now, and at that time I was worried if our company might
be involved.

All right. After that?

After inspecting the company's records, I only
discovered miscellaneous receipts.

Now, you mentioned the inspection of company records.
Where did you make the inspections?

I dug up our files, our cabinets.

So you returned to the office immediately after
receiving the call?

Yes.

So you dug out all these receipts; right? Would you
store such records in your computer?

Those were all hard copies.

Those were all filed; right?

Yes.

You said you only discovered miscellaneous records. How
many of them did you find out?

Around ten or so.

Were they all related to Wing Cheong Estate?

No.

Why did you dig out receipts related to Wing Cheong
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Estate?

A. I dug up some records. For miscellaneous records, we
usually store them in trays. They wouldn't be used for
payment. So we would just store them in trays and
dispose of them from time to time.

Q. I understand. Mr Yung gave you a special instruction to
dig up the purchase records of solder for Wing Cheong
Estate. So, as you dug up the records, you specifically
looked for receipts on Wing Cheong Estate. So why did
you dig up records not related to Wing Cheong Estate?

A. I didn't do that on purpose, but I just found that there
were 10 or 20 such receipts in our trays.

Q. Apart from the four for Wing Cheong Estate -- only four
of them were on Wing Cheong Estate; right?

A. Yes, as far as solder is concerned.

Q. And you felt that other records were relevant, so you
found them irrelevant, but you found ten or so?

A. Right.

CHAIRMAN: Were they all on Wing Cheong Estate but on other
fittings or items, or were they on other estates?

A. I didn't pay attention. So he asked me to dig up
receipts for solder, so I found those -- I dug out those
four receipts for solder.

CHAIRMAN: All right.

MR KHAW: Now, the Wing Cheong Estate was quite a few years
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back. You said the normal practice of your company was
that you would dispose of those receipts after the
audit. How would you manage to still dig out those
receipts?

A. The records I found were not complete sets. They were
returned from sites, from miscellaneous records returned
from the sites from time to time, and somehow they were
not disposed of; they were located in our trays, those
document trays. We would file those --

Q. Does it look like an in-tray or an out-tray?

A. Yes.

Q. Usually, trays are used to store up-to-date documents.
You normally don't store very old documents in trays.
Why was that?

A. I didn't know the reason. They weren't disposed of,
somehow.

Q. You found those records and you confirmed that those
four records were on soldering material for Wing Cheong
Estate. Those were delivery notes?

A. Right.

Q. Did all these delivery notes mention WL50D?

A. They only carried the words "soldering strips".

Q. Let's go back one line. It says it shows that the
solder delivered to the sites were soldering strips.

Well, you didn't know the differences between soldering
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strips and wires. And you said:
"After that, I called Mr Yung and told him that
I only found four delivery notes from Prosperity for
delivery to the site, and I asked him whether they were
appropriate.”
So you called him, you told him the situation.
A. So I only found four notes.
CHAIRMAN: What time was it; do you remember?
A. No, I cannot recall.
MR KHAW: After that, you said --
CHAIRMAN: So you don't remember; right?
A. That's right.
MR KHAW: Do you remember whether it was in the morning or
at night?
A. No, I don't remember.
Q. Then you said:
"Mr Yung requested for delivery notes that can show
that Prosperity delivered lead-free solder to the
Wing Cheong Estate site."
So that's what you wrote. Did Mr Yung mention the
words "lead-free soldering wires"?
A. It is specific, yes, as I remember.
Q. Then you said:
"He hinted that if there are no relevant delivery

notes, I should know what to do, and I should have ways
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to conjure up some delivery notes with the words
'lead-free soldering wires'."

So now I have a few questions for you. What do you
mean by "hinted"? You said, "He hinted if there are no
relevant delivery notes, I should have known what to
do." How did he make such hints?

A. That's what he said. He said, "You should know what to
do." I cannot recall what he said exactly, and I didn't
want to be unfair to him.

Q. (Chinese spoken) --

CHAIRMAN: Hang on. Let the witness finish.

Please continue.

A. I cannot be sure whether he really said that he should
produce these documents.

COMMISSIONER LAI: As far as you recall at the time, what
did he say?

A. I recall he said he wanted lead-free solder notes, and
if not, then "you should think of a solution, you should
come up with a solution".

COMMISSIONER LAI: Ms Lam, could we put it this way? You
told him that you've just found tin strip, and he told
you, "That is not sufficient, tin strip is not
appropriate"; he wanted lead-free tin wire. You told
him that there were four delivery notes from Prosperity

indicating they had delivered tin strips. He said,

-39 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

A.

"That's not appropriate", he wanted lead-free tin wire.
Well, whether he said tin strip is not appropriate, I'm

not sure whether he said those words.

COMMISSIONER LAI: But you told him what the delivery note

A.

MR

A.

said and he said that he wanted the delivery note
indicating that lead-free solder wire was delivered, and
therefore you produced some lead-free tin wire notes.

So he clearly knew the difference between tin strips and
lead-free tin wire. He told you that one was not
appropriate, and you told him there was tin strip, and
he said, "No, I want lead-free tin wire". Then you came
up with the lead-free tin wire notes for him.

Yes.

KHAW: Did he explain to you why he needed notes that
indicated lead-free tin wire?

No, he didn't explain.

Your statement says you can't tell the difference
between tin wire and tin strip and you weren't aware
that there was lead-free, and you said that he told you
to produce lead-free tin wire, and your reaction was,
"What's the difference? Why do you require lead-free
tin wire"?

Well, I was aware of the matter by 16 July.

CHAIRMAN: You knew that it had to be lead-free?

A.

Yes, because the news had announced that.
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MR KHAW: You were aware.

CHAIRMAN: But did you ask, "What was wrong with our
previous one, our 50WL", did you ask him, "In our
previous WL50D, what was the problem with that"?

A. No.

CHAIRMAN: Because you said you found notes regarding tin
strips, and we now know that the tin strips are the WL50
tin strips from Prosperity, Prosperity's delivery note.

A. I think I seem to recall tin strip. I can't be sure.

MR KHAW: So, prior to 16 July, we know that we had to use
lead-free material.

A. Could you repeat your question?

Q. Just now, when you answered the question, prior to
16 July, you were aware that lead-free material had to
be used. That's what you just said.

A. Yes.

Q. So, prior to 16 July, were you aware that excess lead in
water incident, it was related to soldering material?
You knew there was excess lead in water but did you know
it was --

CHAIRMAN: Between early July until 16 July?

A. I think by mid-July it was already announced.

MR KHAW: So your delivery notes indicate WL50 tin strips.
You don't know whether it has lead or if it's lead-free.

Did you ask Mr Yung, "What's the difference between tin
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strips and tin wire?"

A. So are you saying after I was aware?

Q. No, you have been saying you were not aware of the
difference between tin wire and tin strips and the
difference between leaded and lead-free, and now you
have found four delivery notes that say WL50 tin strips.
It doesn't say whether it's lead-free or not. So to
you, you don't know what the difference is, it's just
tin strips.

So did you ask Mr Yung, "What's the problem with the
WL50 tin strip"?

A. I seem to recall the news saying something.

Q. What did they say?

A. They said it was tin strip, it was a problem with the
tin strip.

Q. So, if there was a problem with the tin strip, then were
you aware that the tin strip contained lead?

A. I seem to recall the news saying something like that.

Q. You are not sure? I have the same --

CHAIRMAN: This WL50 tin strip, it's only when the
Commission was convened that it was being announced in
the press. Previously, nobody heard of WL50.

A. I'm not sure if I remember correctly the dates, and so
on. I recall that using that -- there was a problem

with the soldering material. Some had lead and they
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might have used the wrong soldering material. I seem to
recall that being announced in the news, and solder
strips had lead.

CHAIRMAN: Please continue.

MR KHAW: So that means, at the time, when you saw the words
"WL50 flat tin strip", you felt there was a problem, on
16 July?

A. Yes.

Q. Then you said he said, "You should know what to do, come
up with some solution to get some delivery notes that
say 'lead-free tin wire'."

Well, you gave evidence that he said something along
those lines, but you cannot recall the exact wording.
But, at the time, did you have a clear understanding
that his intention was for you to produce fraudulent
documents?

A. Well, I felt that he meant you should try to find these
documents as best as you can, and if not then produce
it.

Q. Please make yourself clear. He told you to look as hard
as you can for lead-free tin wire delivery notes, or did
you understand that he was asking you to produce false
documents, even if the documents don't exist?

A. Yes.

Q. So, at the time, did you think that this request was
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over the top, it was improper?

A. A little bit.

Q. A little bit?

A. A little bit.

Q. Just a little bit? We are talking about false
documents. You have been in the company for so long.
Would you think that that was an excessive request?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. Well, if it was excessive, did you tell Mr Yung, "Please
don't, that's not proper"? Did you mention that? Did
you deny his request? "Was it necessary to do so?"

A. I seem to recall offering some protest. "Please do not
ask me to do this"; I think I should have, I might have.

Q. Then how did he respond? How did he persuade you?

A. I think he said, "I have to submit this, I have to
submit this by tomorrow. It's urgent. It's just for
record purposes", and so on.

Q. Did you consider that if you took that course of action,
there would be criminal liability?

A. I never thought of it. I wouldn't.

Q. Just a request on behalf of Paul Y, and you were willing
to put yourself at such liability, on just one request?

A. He made a few phone calls.

Q. So over a few phone calls?

A. He said he was being pressed by Paul Y.
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Q. Did you suggest to him, "Let's ask the boss first, let's
ask Mr Cheung first"?

A. I thought about it, but I can't remember whether we had
that discussion. I was aware that Mr Cheung was not in
Hong Kong and we couldn't reach him by phone.

CHAIRMAN: I don't understand why, when you called him on
the mainland, you couldn't get through?

A. I think he was on a cruise trip; he might have switched
off his phone.

CHAIRMAN: If you just go back to the mainland, you should
be able to reach him by phone?

A. He was on a vessel, on a cruise trip.

CHAIRMAN: He went back to the mainland by boat? You should
still be able to get reception on the mainland.

So, during those ten days, you couldn't get a hold
of Mr Cheung? From the 16th to the 26th, he was on the
mainland?

A. I had no reason to contact him.

CHAIRMAN: Regardless, you just weren't able to get in touch
with him?

A. I can't recall when he came back to Hong Kong. He came
back rather late. When he came back to Hong Kong, he
did give me a phone call.

MR KHAW: He was on the mainland for many days. There might

be many reasons for that.
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So, when he came back to Hong Kong, did he tell him,
"We were looking for you and we couldn't get a hold of
you"?

A. No.

Q. At the time, I just asked you, did you consult with
Mr Yung and say, "We should ask the boss"?

Did you think about contacting the boss yourself?
Did you do so? Did you take those actions?

A. Are you saying did I say those things?

Q. You said you understand that Mr Yung asked you to make
a fraudulent document and you understood the serious
consequences, and you had declined, you refused, and he
asked you to help out. Did you yourself consider
consulting your boss, so you should not promise Mr Yung-?

A. I didn't think about that.

Q. So that means you and Mr Yung, your relationship was so
good that over the course of two or three phone calls,
you were willing to undertake action that could have
been a breach of the law?

A. Well, it was urgent, and I didn't consider my actions
thoroughly.

Q. And you were willing to do so at the time. Did you have
a guilty conscience at the time, that you did something
wrong, you needed to rectify your mistakes? Had you

considered that?
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A.

Q.

You're saying I had made a mistake?

Mr Yung said that the delivery notes were inappropriate,
you needed to produce lead-free tin wire, and you
understood that he wanted you to make a false document.
So if you agreed to make a false document, in your mind
did you ever consider that when you placed these
procurement orders, you might have placed the wrong
order? Did that ever cross your mind?

I'm not sure what I was thinking at that time. I didn't
know what to do.

So, at any rate, Mr Yung instructed you and you
complied?

Yes.

You knew that you should have ordered lead-free
soldering wire, but at the end, it was found out that
the other model was WF50D, so was it a mistake on your
part and that's why you were willing to come up with
these fake records?

I didn't think about that.

For those, how long did it take you to create those four
fake notes?

Are you referring to the time spent on preparing these

notes?

CHAIRMAN: I want to know how you prepared these four notes,

fake notes.
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A. I had the original delivery notes.

CHAIRMAN: Was it a delivery note or invoice?

A. It was a delivery note. So we have delivery notes from
the site. Then we came up with delivery notes for
lead-free solder and we used photocopying and copy and
paste and so on.

CHAIRMAN: Did you use scissors to cut them out before
photocopying them and stick them -- how did you do it?

A. Something like that.

CHAIRMAN: You did it yourself. I didn't do it so I don't
know how you did it.

A. Yes, it's by photocopying and cut and paste.

CHAIRMAN: So it wasn't done with a computer, right, the
copying and pasting?

A. No.

CHAIRMAN: So you cut out some parts and photocopied them
and pasted them; is that what happened?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: You said you took a delivery note from
Prosperity, and then you found another delivery note
with FRY lead-free solder. It's another delivery note.
And then you cut out the words "FRY lead-free solder"
and then stuck it onto another document; is that right?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: But it doesn't seem that way to me. Can you
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think about it? I don't know how you did it. First of
all, delivery notes by Prosperity, the words "delivery
notes" were different from the words "delivery notes™ on
your form. The fonts seem different.

MR KHAW: When you look at G2, page 1195, if you compare the
delivery notes for Wing Cheong Estate, S1, page 220 --
let's compare both documents.

On page 1195, let's look at this delivery note. The
first word on the Chinese, "Sung", is different from the
font of the character "Sung" on page 220.

Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, on the bottom-right corner of the words "Delivery
note", that's the delivery note number. On 1195, the
Chinese character "Sung", is different from the font of
"Sung" on page 220. Do you see that?

A. Yes, I see that.

CHAIRMAN: On the bottom-right corner?

MR KHAW: It's the words "Sung fo dan", the smaller
character of "Sung".

For these three characters, "Sung fo dan", which is
the heading, on page 1195, the font size is obviously
very different from that on page 220. Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, on one page you see the words "Delivery note
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number" and on the others it says "Delivery number";

there's no Chinese character "dan". Do you see that?
A. Yes.
Q. So you said you did your cutting and pasting -- how did

you do it?

CHAIRMAN: Now, for the real delivery notes from Prosperity,
there's a line -- there's a divider between the items,
but in your version, there are no dividers. Do you see
the differences?

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: So, if you did the altering, you should have
known?

A. Maybe I was in a loss at that time, so

CHAIRMAN: Let's take a 20-minute break.

(12.08 pm)

(A short adjournment)

(12.31 pm)

MR KHAW: Ms Lam, before the break, we took you through some
documents. Myself and the chairman asked you some
questions. We asked how you created those four records
or notes. Can you explain that to us, please.

A. I guess I took the headings of the original notes and
the rest was typed out on a computer. After that, they
were pasted back into the letterhead.

Q. Hold on a second. You said the letterhead was the
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letterhead of the original delivery note for WL50. Then
what did you do?

A. I used a computer.

Q. You used a computer to type out the item names?

A. I took reference from another note.

Q. Yes, the note you dug out.

For WL50D soldering strip, you changed that into
lead-free UK solder. How did you align the positions of
those items? How did you align the item descriptions so
perfectly so it didn't look like it had been altered?

A. I had the original notes. There were four notes, so
I just typed it up based on the original.

Q. You said you typed it up on a computer. So was there
a setting on your computer or a template on your
computer for this delivery note -- so how did you type
it up?

A. I just aligned the same positions on the computer
program and that's what it looked like after printing it
out.

Q. You used the letterhead of the original delivery note,
and you masked the original content, and you said you
had a template or letterhead, with just the word
"letterhead"?

A. No, the letterhead just contained the logo of Prosperity

Building, without anything else.
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Q.

So anything underneath the words "Delivery note" were
typed up by yourself; are you sure?

Yes.

You swore that what you said was real. Was it done by
yourself? You personally created those four delivery
notes; are you sure?

Yes.

You said you used Prosperity Building Materials'
delivery note as a letterhead, and you masked everything

else, and then you printed an empty template; "yes" or
"no"?

Yes.

Then you used a computer to come up with the right
formatting; you typed out the rest. So why were there
differences? One version you have "Delivery note
number", and the other version, "Delivery number"; why
is there such a difference?

You mean when compared with the original version? It
was just negligence on my part because I was in a hurry.
Maybe it was my negligence.

Did you do the same for all four delivery notes?

Yes.

What about the signature?

I cut out that part from the original and then

I photocopied it and then I pasted it in.
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Q. I don't understand.

A. I had the original note. It carried a signature. I cut
out the part of the signature and then pasted it.

Q. You cut out that bit. So, in other words, the part
starting from "the receiving client"?

A. No, I just cut out the part of the signature.

Q. Does it include the parts with the line -- underneath
the line "signature and chop", did you cut out those
words as well?

A. I only cut it just before the line of the signature. So
I just cut out the part right until the line. But the
signature crosses the line, so I added something myself.

Q. So you manually added some lines or something; is that
what happened?

A. Yes.

Q. At that time, did you check if your computer contains
any records of these delivery notes?

A. I don't understand. Can you repeat, please?

Q. At that time, as you dug up these delivery notes, and
before you created these notes, did you check your
company's computers for soft copies of these delivery
notes? Did you check your company's archives, computer
archives? Did you check whether the archives contained
such delivery notes?

A. Are you referring to delivery notes by Prosperity? No.
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Q.

Did you ever check or you checked them but you didn't
find anything?
I did not find it, I did not try to find it, and
I believe that there wouldn't be any records.
Afterwards, you passed them on to Mr Yung.

If we look at page 3 of your witness statement,
(b) (ii):

"I came up with some four delivery notes and I made
alterations based on the original notes. I changed
'soldering strips' into 'lead-free soldering wire', and
I called Mr Yung to confirm the content of the altered
delivery notes."

Then you called him; right?

Yes.

My question is, you said you called Mr Yung to confirm
the content of the altered delivery notes, so when you
called him, how did he confirm the content of the
altered notes?

I said I changed it to lead-free soldering wire and

I told him the gquantity, and I asked if that's correct.
How did you know what quantity to type or the number of
rolls? How did you know what the right quantity was?

I just guessed it myself.

How did you guess it?

Usually, it's 100 rolls or so.
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Q. Before you guessed the quantity, did you ask Mr Yung
what quantity to put?

A. Probably, yes.

Q. So, in your earlier phone conversation, you asked him
the number of rolls you should put down?

A. Yes.

Q. After that, you told him what you did over the phone?

A. Yes.

Q. So, over the phone, you told him that you changed the
item to lead-free soldering wire, "Is that okay"?

A. Yes.

Q. After that, what did you do with those documents?

A. After that, I probably asked him to come back to collect
them, when he has time.

Q. Yesterday, we looked at a WhatsApp record submitted by
Mr Yung. Let's look at that. Here, the date is 17 July
2015. The time is 11:09 am, and it says, "It's ready.
Are you going to come back to collect it?" Do you see
that?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you send those messages?

A. I don't remember.

Q. If you sent these messages, so it means you spent at
least one night to create those four delivery notes?

A. I don't remember the dates or the time it took.
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Q. What about the approximate time you took?

A. A matter of hours.

Q. Where did you do it?

A. In the office.

Q. At that time, was anyone else present?

A. No.

Q. What time was it?

A. At night, near the close of business.

Q. Why is it so hard for you to recall such things? You
created fake documents. I guess you didn't do that very
often; right?

A. No, of course not.

Q. You have been with this company for almost 13 years and
it was the first time you created fake documents. Was
it the first time you created those?

A. Yes.

Q. You cannot even remember whether you did it in the
morning or at night?

A. Probably near the close of business.

Q. So what time was it?

A. 5 or 6 pm.

Q. So, if it's near close of business, was anyone else
present?

A. Some people were working outside, and Mr Cheung and

Ms Mok were on holiday. I don't remember if Mr Wong was
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in the office. Mr Lau and others probably weren't here.
There were a lot of incidents at that time, so they had
to work outside.

Q. So by that time you had resigned already?

A. You mean resigned from the post of director?

Q. Yes, but you were still working in the company?

A. Yes.

Q. You said Mr Wong might have been there?

A. Yes, he might be here, but I don't remember.

Q. What about the process of creating those four delivery
notes; Mr Yung wasn't present during the whole time?

A. No, he wasn't.

Q. You told him that it's ready and you asked him to
collect it. Where did you place those documents?

A. I probably put them on his table.

Q. You merely placed them on the table, or you put them in
a folder, or what?

A. As I remember, I just put them on his table.

Q. So you just put those four notes on his table?

A. It's more than that. I don't remember if it happened on
the same day, but he probably asked us to photocopy some
plumbing documents. There are a lot of documents, not
just these four notes.

Q. From the time you put them on his table to the moment he

took them away, had you seen Mr Yung?
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A. No, as far as I remember.

Q. Were you at work on 17 July? Were you at the office?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. But you do not recall seeing him in the office that day?

A. I don't think so, because I recall he wasn't coming back
to the office during that period. He was always
attending meetings.

Q. So, after producing these fraudulent notes, were you
scared?

A. Yes.

Q. You would be, normally. So, before you produced these
documents, you said you couldn't get in touch with the
boss, you said he was on vacation. So, after producing
the document, did you consider discussing this with
Mr Cheung, because you are scared, you should notify
your boss -- did you consider contacting Mr Cheung-?

A. Yes, I did think about it, but I just couldn't pluck up
the courage to confront him.

Q. You couldn't pluck up the courage to confront him? So
you produced these notes, so in your own mind you were
trying to help the company. You didn't want them to be
involved in the excess lead in water incident?

A. Yes.

Q. So notifying your boss, even though it might be

something stupid, you wanted to help the company, it was
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in the company's assistance, and you said you didn't
want to notify your boss?

A. Well, he had just turned from vacation and he had to
deal with all the matters, affairs before he went on
vacation.

Q. Please continue, yes.

A. So I could just see that his morale, his spirit and
everything -- he was depressed. So I had thought about
it but honestly speaking, I didn't bring it up with him.

Q. So Mr Cheung, did he discuss the investigation of the
lead in water incident -- he was under pressure -- did
he tell you what he had done during the course of the
investigation?

A. Well, Mr Cheung every day would come back to work and
say he would have to go attend meetings, and I saw that
he was reticent, he was quiet; he would hole himself up
in his room, in his office.

Q. Mr Cheung would go to the Housing Department and also
have to attend meetings with the main contractor. So,
when he came back, did he mention, "What soldering
material did we use?" Did he ask, because you were
aware that a problem arose from the soldering
material -- so what did he say to you? What did he ask
you?

A. He asked, "Did we purchase the wrong material, or what
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happened?" He asked all sorts of questions.

Q. He asked you. Did he ask Ms Mok?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr Wong?

A. I think so.

Q. Did he ask Mr Yung?

A. I don't know.

Q. So he asked, "Did you place the wrong order?" Then how
did you respond?

A. As I said just now, I said I didn't know. I said
I placed the order as they told me verbatim, so I'm not
sure.

Q. So, at the time, Mr Cheung was aware that you had placed
an order for WL50 flat tin strips?

A. Well, I don't think he was sure.

Q. Then how would he know you placed the wrong order?

A. Because we had a water testing report indicating that
something was wrong, and he was thinking, if it wasn't
our staff, then was it possible that other staff were
creating the problem as the news had said, could it be
such and such and whatnot, then we were not sure.

Q. So he said that maybe the material you procured had
a problem, so he mentioned that possibility; right?

A. Yes.

Q. So perhaps your procurement order was problematic. Did
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he focus on soldering material?

A. Yes, he did mention that.

Q. So, at the time, you were aware you placed an order for
WL50 flat tin strips, and you thought it was a mistake.
So did you tell the boss, "Yes, we did order WL50 flat
tin strip, maybe it is not the right material"?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you tell him that?

A. Yes.

Q. So, in other words, you knew you had placed the wrong
material order?

A. Yes.

Q. And what was his response?

A. He was surprised; "Why did you order that?" Then we
said we don't know; we were just following the
instructions of the site supervisor, and now, in
hindsight, after the incident was exposed, we have found
that maybe some material was incorrect.

Q. Well, did he berate you? Did he scold you?

A. A couple of words. Well, he didn't blame us or scold
us. He just said, "Why? What happened? Why did you do
that?"

Q. So, when you told him, did he question the staff one by
one, "How did you procure the order?" Did he follow up?

A. He had asked me and I gave the same response: I just
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placed the order verbatim, as the site supervisor
instructed.

Q. Did he say, "Don't you know that you should use
lead-free solder?" Did he say that?

A. He did not.

Q. So, in his conversation with you, did he ever mention
lead-free solder material? That, "You have to procure
lead-free soldering material; why didn't you do that?"

A. You are referring to his final conversation?

Q. No, that's what I have been asking all along. Ever
since he came back from his vacation, you said he was
exhausted, he was under investigation, he was aware that
the procurement order was wrong, you had told him you
knew you placed the wrong order. So, in these
conversations, did he mention that you had to order
lead-free solder or did he ever mention lead-free
soldering material, these words, lead-free solder, or
lead-free soldering material?

A. I'm not sure.

Q. Well, did he ever mention "lead-free"?

A. I think he did.

Q. So, at the time, your boss would be very concerned that
you placed the wrong order, he was very anxious, and you
never thought that you should notify him that you found

four delivery notes, and you and Mr Yung had
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a conversation to produce those four notes? Did it ever
cross your mind that you should raise that?

A. I thought about it, but I did not raise that issue.

Q. So your boss, Mr Cheung, did he ask you, "What documents
have you identified or found that indicate what solder
material we procured?"

A. He asked me, "Do we still have any documents,
procurement documents?"

Q. How did you respond?

A. At the time, we didn't have any more notes, delivery
notes.

Q. So, referring to your witness statement on page 3, the
last three sentences:

"But at the time I did not know the reason why
Paul Y asked for these documents."

That is incorrect. You had submitted some fake
documents -- you placed the fake documents on Mr Yung's
desk, and you didn't know what the reason was -- what
the reason or the use of these documents were for?
Well, you produced these four and you still didn't know
why Paul Y had asked for these and the use of these
documents?

A. I only knew that Paul Y asked for this. He didn't tell
me what Paul Y wanted to use them for.

Q. Well, you knew that it was for the excess lead in water
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incident. You have told us very clearly just now;
am I right?

A. I didn't know who he was going to submit it to and for
what purpose.

Q. Excuse me, Ms Lam. That's not what it says. Please
read carefully. It does not say who you are handing the
documents to. It says:

"But I did not know at the time what was the reason
and the use of these documents."
It was after the excess lead in water incident?

A. Well, if you say it was because of the lead in water
incident, I course I knew it was because of the lead in
water.

Q. So this is incorrect?

A. But the use of these documents, I don't know what they
wanted to use them for.

Q. And there was an investigation regarding the solder
material?

A. He told me it was just for archival record purposes. It
is not what you're saying. It is not that were
identified, were guilty and needed to produce evidence.
I was just worried. I was worried.

Q. You were worried because Paul Y was conducting
an investigation?

A. I only knew that they asked Mr Yung to attend a meeting.
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Q. Then you say:

"I subsequently discarded the other odd documents
and notes."

So you made the decision to discard the documents.
So before discarding did you discuss with Mr Yung
whether you should discard the documents?

A. No.

Q. That was bold of you. You knew that there was an excess
lead in water investigation and you still wanted to
discard the documents? You single-handedly made that
decision to discard documents?

A. Well, I thought we had already submitted stuff to Paul Y
and we could discard it.

Q. That's not logical, Ms Lam. You were considering
submitting -- you knew these documents were fraudulent,
you had produced a fraudulent delivery note, and you
didn't need to notify Mr Yung, you didn't notify the
boss, and you discarded the rest? You are acting like
if you were the boss.

A. Well, I was scared. I didn't know what to do, so
I discarded this stuff.

Q. So, after discarding the material, did you notify
Mr Yung that you discarded the material?

A. He didn't ask.

Q. Did you notify him?
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A. I can't remember. I'm not sure.

Q. So the first time you recall a discussion with your
boss, Mr Cheung, that you have produced four false
delivery notes, when did that occur?

A. It was around December.

Q. That is very recently. Did you raise it to him or were
you asked by Mr Cheung?

A. As I remember, he told me first.

Q. Was it by phone or face-to-face?

A. It was face-to-face, in the office.

Q. How did he first put this problem or question to you?

A. As I remember, he told me that the lawyer told him that
some documents of Paul Y include these four delivery
notes, and they said we provided these four notes. At
that time, he said he wasn't present, so he asked us why
these four delivery notes would be passed on to Paul Y.

Q. What was your answer?

A. I told him that I need some time to think.

Q. So didn't give him an answer immediately?

A. Right.

Q. So how long did it take you before you got back to him?

A. It was a few days.

Q. Why didn't you answer him immediately?

A. At that time, I heard about the incident or issue, I was

at a loss, I was frightened; I didn't know whether
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A.

I should tell him. I thought if I told him, he might
suffer, so I was at a loss. So I wanted some time to
think.

From the time he asked you the question to the time you
made a decision, did you discuss it with anyone else?
Did you discuss the matter with anyone?

No, no one.

So did you ever discuss these four delivery notes with
anybody during that time?

I probably did discuss with the lawyer, but I'm not very
sure of the time.

The last question before the lunch break. After
creating these four fake notes, before the boss asked
you about this, apart from Mr Yung, had you ever told
anyone else about this?

No.

CHAIRMAN: Now let's take a lunch break and we will continue

at 2.30.

(1.03 pm)

(The luncheon adjournment)

(2.32 pm)

MR KHAW: Ms Lam, before the lunch break, I asked you about

the four fake delivery notes you created. From the time
you created those notes to the time when Mr Cheung told

you about these fake notes, in between these events, you
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never told anyone else about those fake notes; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Apart from Mr Yung?

A. Yes.

Q. Now let's not talk about those four fake notes for now.
For the four actual delivery notes for the WL50D
soldering strips, after you found those notes, did you
tell any of your colleagues, for example Ms Mok, that
you saw some delivery notes on WL50D and that you might
have ordered something wrong? Have you ever mentioned
that to Ms Mok?

A. Are you referring to the time when I found those notes?
Q. Yes, I am referring to when you found those four actual
notes. Did you ever tell Ms Mok that the solder you

ordered might be wrong?

A. No.

Q. But that's strange. The two of you worked together, and
you were both responsible for procuring these materials,
but after the incident you never talked to Ms Mok about
that?

A. I guess not. I was in a loss at that time. I didn't
know what to do. So I guess she didn't know, so
I didn't talk to her.

Q. Let's not think about whether she knew or not. Between

July and October, did you ever tell anyone in the
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company that the procured materials might be wrong,
before you talked to Mr Cheung?

A. I think not.

Q. What about Mr Wong?

A. I think not.

Q. So only one person knew about it?

A. Yes.

Q. Earlier this morning, you said the boss knew about the
incident and he came back from the mainland, and he was
tired and busy. You said the boss asked whether wrong
materials were ordered. At that time, when you talked
with him, you mentioned that you might have placed
a wrong order.

A. I said a wrong order might have been made.

Q. So the conversation was Jjust between the two of you in
December; right?

A. Yes.

Q. So, before December, is it correct that Mr Cheung did
a lot of investigation and the main contractor and the
Housing Department were both investigating?

A. Yes.

Q. Did they ever ask you if you had tried to identify or
locate the notes?

A. Yes.

Q. What was your answer at that time?
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A. I said no.

Q. So you searched but you couldn't find anything?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you say where you think those delivery notes ended
up?

A. I said they might have all been disposed.

Q. So you told them the notes might have been disposed and
they accepted that explanation?

A. Yes, they did.

Q. So, if they were all disposed or discarded -- well, one
of the ways to retrieve those notes is to ask
Prosperity. Between July and December, you told your
boss that all the notes were discarded, and the boss
asked where those notes ended up. Did you ever approach
Prosperity to ask for those notes?

A. Yes.

Q. So who from Prosperity do you approach?

A. I think it was Mr Chow.

Q. Chow Ka Ping, is that?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you responsible for approaching him --

CHAIRMAN: Was it Mr Chow Ka Ping?

A.

Yes.

MR KHAW: Did you make this decision to approach him or was

it your boss's instruction?
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A.

It was an instruction from the boss. As I recall, by
that time he had already received a letter requesting
for evidence, requesting Mr Cheung to give evidence.
And he asked you to approach Mr Chow, so did you
approach him?

Yes.

Did you call him?

Yes.

What did you say to him?

I asked if he had delivery notes for these sites.

Are you close with Mr Chow?

I have known him for a long time.

Are you friends?

Day 34

Yes, we are friends in terms of work. I am not sure if

I would consider that friends.

Would you have a meal with each other?

Not really.

So was that "yes" or "no"?

Well, it was a long time. Perhaps we had a meal
together or we met during company annual dinners.
Apart from annual dinners?

No.

After you called Mr Chow, what did you say to him?
I asked if he still had records for those sites.

So did you ask him about the delivery notes or the
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invoices or both?

A. I asked him to dig up whatever he had.

Q. So what was his answer?

A. He said it was a long time ago and he would try to
search.

Q. And afterwards, did he get back to you?

A. He said he needed time, and he told me that he couldn't
find anything and he might need more time.

Q. When you said he replied at an early date, when was it,
approximately? Was it three months prior, September or
October?

A. Yes, probably.

Q. So he said he would search, and did he promise to follow
that up with you?

A. No.

Q. And you didn't call him again to ask him if he found
anything?

A. I think the lawyer told us that you had issued them
a letter.

Q. What did the lawyer say?

A. The lawyer said, at that time, you had already issued
a letter to them, requesting records.

Q. No, my question was, you asked him and he said he needed
time to find those documents and he didn't reply, so did

you follow up with him?
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A. No.

Q. Not at all?

A. No.

Q. Why was that?

A. The lawyer told me that you have sent them a request
letter, and if he found anything, he would have passed
them to you.

Q. Did your boss, Mr Cheung, know that you approached
Mr Chow? So, as you know, did your boss ever approach
Mr Chow to find out what was being ordered at that time?
Did the boss himself personally approach him?

A. No, I don't know if he had approached Mr Chow.

Q. After approaching Mr Chow, did you ever meet him?

A. Of course yes, because he had to bring those notes here.

Q. When you met, did you ever talk about the delivery notes
you wanted to find?

A. I might have asked him but I can't recall.

Q. Can you try to recall that?

So you met him in the office; right?

A. Yes.

Q. You said he might have mentioned those notes?

A. I might have asked him again about those notes, but he
said he hadn't found them yet.

Q. So, when he said he hadn't found them, were you

interested to find them as soon as possible?
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A.

I was a little bit anxious at the beginning, but later
on I knew they had to submit those to you eventually,
anyway.

So, in your conversation with Mr Chow, when asking him
to find those notes, did you ever mention anything to
Mr Yung?

I'm not sure.

Did yourself, Mr Yung and Mr Chow ever discuss this
matter together?

No.

On around 16 July, according to your statement, you said
at that time Mr Yung asked for those records in a very
urgent manner, and you tried to dig out those records
yourself; you did not approach Mr Chow yet, right?
Yes.

Why didn't you think about approaching Mr Chow at that
time?

At that time, I thought if we can dig them out, then we
would pass it on.

Sorry, what was that?

I wanted to see whether our company can find them and
then we could get back to Paul Y.

In other words, you would try to dig them out first.
And you only dug up miscellaneous records. Didn't you

want to know what the whole picture looked like?
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A.

I didn't think about that. A lot happened at that time,
so I wasn't able to think too much.

You knew the WL50 solder your company has been ordering
was non-compliant?

I wasn't aware at that time.

When you look at those records in S1 on page 78, we have
gone through this before, the Hung Hom Estate, these are
the procurement records provided by Prosperity,
information provided by Prosperity. Here, we can see
there is a table. It's a summary, and it says, in the
heading -- we have "Hung Hom Estate" and then we have
"FRY lead-free wire" and then we have "WL50" and then at
the end we also have "FRY lead-free tin wire". You have
had an opportunity to review this now. Can you explain
why this scenario occurred?

I don't know why it occurred.

Have you asked anybody why it appeared as such?

I don't know, I didn't know that they ordered two types
of material here.

Let's turn to page 205. The dates are not correct here.
The product name, you can see it all refers to WL50 flat
tin strips for Tung Wui Estate. So all of them are
WL50. Do you find any problems here?

I don't see anything unusual.

Mr Cheung is the boss, and in December, the two of you
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talked about the fraudulent delivery notes for the first
time. At the time, he asked you why, after such a long

time, you suddenly decided to admit to him that you did

that.

A. Well, because he asked me.

Q. Yes?

A. He asked me, and I discovered that a few delivery notes
had already been converted to these documents.

Q. What do you mean by "converted to these documents"?

A. It became part of the evidence bundle of this
Commission.

Q. So you were aware that he understood that there were
some fraudulent notes, so you were caught and you had to
admit; is that the case?

A. Yes.

Q. So, when you talked to him, did you tell him who
instructed you to make these documents?

A. I remember -- well, I don't think I -- I can't remember
anything, I didn't

Q. You only admitted that you made four fake delivery
notes. So you bore the whole responsibility. You bore
the full brunt.

A. Well, I didn't think about it that way. I didn't
consider that I was bearing the full brunt, as you put

it.
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Q. From your perspective, what about Mr Yung? That's what
you said in your witness statement.

A. Yes.

Q. The boss became aware of the incident. He knew that
somebody made fake documents and you admitted to making
a fake document. So you didn't think about telling the
boss who instructed you?

A. I'm not sure. I would like you to understand, when
I admitted to him, I was under a lot of duress.

I really don't know -- I can't confirm what I had said
or not said.

Q. Think carefully, then. At that time, you admitted that
you were under pressure, you were under a lot of stress,
but you wanted to tell him. Well, because in your
statement, you do not make a decision to do that. You
received instructions. So didn't you have to tell your
boss?

Ms Lam?

A. I would like to ask -- I really am not sure. Then how
can I answer you?

Q. Well, at that time, did you consider that you were
trying to cover for Mr Yung and not tell your boss? You
would not rat out on him, so to speak?

A. No, I didn't consider that.

Q. And now you cannot recall everything; you cannot recall
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whether you had mentioned Mr Yung had instructed you?

A. I'm not sure.

Q. So you admitted to your boss that you did that. What
was your boss's reaction?

A. He was caught off guard. He was surprised.

Q. Yes, exactly. He was surprised, "Why would you do
that?" Did he ask you, "Why would you do that? Let me
ask you, why did you do that?", and how did you respond?

A. I recall, I think I said --

CHAIRMAN: I cannot hear you. What did you say?

A. I said Paul Y was pressing us to submit the document and
I had provided the document.

MR KHAW: Did the boss ask, "Why would you consider forging
a document?"

A. I think he would have asked that. I think he did.

Q. How did you respond? "Why did you produce a forged
document?"

A. I think I responded by saying, "I couldn't find the
document, so I produced these for him."

Q. So you are bearing the full brunt, you are taking full
responsibility. So you make it sound as if it's wholly
your own decision.

A. Well, he didn't ask me who decided to do it, and he
didn't get into the details.

Q. I asked you, "Why did you want to make a forged
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document"; do you remember that?

A. Yes, I remember.

Q. But he wasn't asking, like you did, "Did you make your
own decision, did you receive instructions?" Well, you
knew it was not your decision?

A. Yes.

Q. So didn't you need to explain to your boss that it
wasn't your idea? Shouldn't you clarify that it wasn't
your initiative?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Then what did your boss say?

A. He was surprised.

Q. Then what did he say? Did he scold you? Did he berate
you and say, "You forged documents?"

A. I think so. I remember I think he did.

Q. And he calmly accepted your explanation that you forged
the documents, "Allow me to follow up"?

A. Yes, I told him, "The lawyers are following up now."

Q. So your witness statement said that your boss did not
express his view?

A. Correct.

Q. Was he angry?

A. I don't know. He didn't say anything. He was reticent.

Q. And that concluded the discussion?

A. Yes.
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Q. So, after your boss gquestioned you, did you relate the
conversation to Mr Yung?

A. Do you mean did I follow up with Mr Yung? No.

Q. Did Mr Yung ask you --

CHAIRMAN: Mr Yung had left the company.

MR KHAW: Well, Mr Yung's evidence yesterday, he said he was
quite sure that he was in contact with you or Ms Mok on
which soldering material to use. Do you agree with what
I just said?

A. I agree that he had referred to Prosperity.

Q. Mr Yung says that he had communicated with Ms Lam,

Ms Mok and Mr Wong; "I don't know why they made
a mistake." So, if you were to hear that, how would you
respond?

A. I do not agree.

Q. He says that you knew. You knew. You, Ms Mok and
Mr Wong know that you should have used the material FRY?

A. I do not agree.

Q. He also said that you know that FRY is a lead-free
soldering material; do you agree?

A. I do not agree.

Q. Would you agree that the procurement staff, or even to
the extent that your company knows what material should
be procured, but you were negligent; you were just not

careful. Do you agree that when you made those
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procurement orders you were negligent?

A. Well, looking back, Ms Mok and I -- well, I don't know.
I think Ms Mok would not be aware as well.

Q. My last question. In paragraph 9 of your statement, it
says:

"When Ms Mok or I placed an order for soldering
material with Prosperity, we would not notify Mr Chau or
Mr Hui, the site supervisors, and Prosperity would
contact the site supervisors directly regarding delivery
arrangements."

Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. When we look at the notes, there are a lot of delivery
notes. Now let's look at delivery notes first. A lot
of them carry the words "Mr Hui". For Mr Hui and
Mr Chau, after they received the deliveries, is there
any need for you to communicate with each other?

A. No, never. There's no need to do it.

Q. You said Prosperity would directly liaise with the
relevant site supervisors. You are referring to the
site supervisors of your company, Mr Hui and Mr Chau,
right?

A. Yes.

Q. I have no further questions. I'm sorry, I would like to

ask one more question.
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Do you agree that all along, the company is aware
that FRY lead-free solder is to be procured?

A. I don't think everyone knew about it.

Q. You did not follow the specifications or contractual
requirements in procuring this material, and as such you
were willing to create fake notes to mask this fact. Do
you agree with this claim?

A. No, I do not agree.

Q. After the lead in water incident was revealed, did
Mr Cheung, the boss, remind you of the type of solder to
order in the future?

A. Afterwards, yes, he did.

Q. Did he show you which kind of solder to order?

A. No.

Q. After the incident was revealed, which type of solder
did he instruct you to order?

A. He said the type on the samples submitted must be used.

Q. How do you know which type of item is used in the sample
submission? So who knew about it?

A. The staff responsible for sample submission.

Q. Since the lead in water incident in July, how did you
communicate with each other, to make sure that in the
future lead-free FRY solder is to be ordered?

A. We would verbally communicate with Prosperity. We would

mention FRY lead-free solder or just lead-free solder to
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Prosperity.

MR KHAW: I have no further questions.

COMMISSIONER LAI: Ms Lam, I have a question. In July, you
resigned from the position of director at Golden Day.

It was after the lead in water incident; right?

A. Yes.

COMMISSIONER LAI: So you took the initiative in resigning.
Were there any special reasons?

A. After the incident, I was under a lot of pressure;

I felt a lot of pressure.

COMMISSIONER LAI: Why was that?

A. There were a lot of enquiries and a lot of things had to
be done, and I had to look for a lot of things and I had
to ask a lot of questions. I wasn't capable of doing
that.

COMMISSIONER LAI: Even if you didn't resign, you still had
to deal with these problems?

A. When I resigned from this post, I wanted to quit the
company altogether. After Mr Cheung returned, after
a chat with Mr Cheung, I told him that I am resigning
from this post. If I quit the company altogether,

Mr Cheung wouldn't know who could take up my work, and
as such I stayed.

MR L HUI: TIf other counsel have no further questions --

Cross—-examination by MS LOK
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MS LOK: I have a question as well. Earlier in the evidence
you gave to the Commission -- according to your
evidence, you said you couldn't recall the exact words,
but the request was to come up with delivery notes of
lead-free solder, and you answered Mr Yung that Paul Y
wanted those delivery notes and you said you couldn't
remember how to get those notes.

I represent Mr Yung, and you were asked what kind of
notes Paul Y requested, and on the types of records
required, you said it was either invoices or delivery
notes. And when you were asked whether non-leaded
solder was specifically required, you said yes.

I would like to clarify two things with you. You
remember clearly that Mr Yung asked you to dig out
delivery notes for solder for Wing Cheong Estate, and
you said Mr Yung asked you to do your best, because some
miscellaneous notes from sites had not been discarded.
In your evidence, when you gave evidence, you said
Mr Yung asked you to dig out those records as much as
you can and you said some miscellaneous records might
not have been discarded?

A. That's not what I said.

Q. That's what Mr Yung told you; right?

A. Yes. He asked me to do my best.

Q. So Mr Yung instructed you to find those records. Do you
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agree that Mr Yung never told you to conjure up some
records?

A. Are you referring to our telephone conversations?

Q. Yes.

A. I think this is what he meant.

Q. But he never told you to conjure up those receipts;
that's just your interpretation?

A. Yes, that was my interpretation.

Q. But he never told you to conjure up those records?

A. As I said, I don't recall word for word what he said.
Q. Secondly, you have said more than once and you repeated
just now, you are not sure of the exact conversation

between you and Mr Yung?

A. I am not sure of every word, what we talked about.

Of course, I am not sure about every word.

Q. Mr Yung approached you to dig out those records. Do you
agree that it was normal, because you had always been
responsible for these records?

A. Yes.

Q. You found four records for Wing Cheong Estate, and they
are all on solder. Did Mr Yung say, "This is wrong, the
records must say 'lead-free solder'"?

A. Yes.

Q. So, right now, one undisputed fact is that Mr Yung gave

samples of unleaded solder to the Housing Department.
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So, at that time, could Mr Yung mean, at that time, that
the sample submitted was unleaded solder and as such
there must be records of unleaded solder? Do you think
there is such possibility?

A. Yes, it was possible.

Q. The COI counsel asked how Mr Yung hinted that to you,
and you said Mr Yung said he requires receipts of
unleaded solder and he told you to think about what to
do with it, "You know what to do". So what could you
do? You could ask if Prosperity kept such records. If
you could not dig them out, you could ask Prosperity;
right?

A. At that time, I never thought about it.

Q. But retrospectively, do you think it was possible?

A. Yes, it was possible.

Q. And that's what you did eventually. You tried to
retrieve those records from Prosperity, from Mr Chow,
and Mr Yung asked you to settle it. That might actually
be what he meant; right?

A. Are you asking if I agree with your version or your
claim?

Q. Yes, that's what he could do.

A. That's not what I understood.

Q. You said he hinted, but that's based on your own

interpretation; do you agree?
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A. Yes.
Q. All right. So your interpretation is that he asked you

to make fake notes, and you said that you found this
request unreasonable. Did you clarify that with him?
Did you ask him whether he really wanted you to make
fake notes?

You mean did I say exactly what you just said? I cannot
remember.

Did you ask why he wanted you to make fake notes?

No, I probably didn't.

The COI counsel asked if you tried to reject the
requests, and your answer was that you might have had
some similar conversations. Can you clarify that; what
were the conversations like, or do you not remember?

I think I did tell him that "You shouldn't do this" or
something similar.

But you have not mentioned that in your statement?

Yes.

And you said you weren't very sure about the content of
the conversation. So is it possible that you never said
that?

Are you saying whether there is such a possibility?
Yes.

It's possible.

When answering the COI's questions, when you prepared

-87 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

those notes, how did you determine the quantities? You
said you just guessed it, and the COI counsel asked if
you had asked Mr Yung, and you said yes. So, if you

simply guessed the quantities, why did you ask Mr Yung?

A. I had to ask him if my guessing is reasonable.

Q. How would he know? He was never responsible for the
procurement and he never dealt with those orders.

A. But he should know the quantities of materials required.

Q. But he never read those delivery notes.

A. He was responsible for the projects.

Q. Do you agree that you did not mention in your witness
statement that you asked Mr Yung for the quantities
required. According to your evidence or witness
statement, Mr Yung never asked you to prepare fake notes
and you never told Mr Yung over the phone that you would
make fake notes; do you agree?

A. I wasn't sure if I used the words "fake notes" or "fake
records".

Q. Now, retrospectively, do you think there might be
a lapse in communication between the two of you at that
time? Is it possible?

CHAIRMAN: I think there is no misunderstanding. Your
client's version was very sure, and it ended there;
there's nothing that follows. Your version is that it's

incorrect. So how could there be any misunderstanding?
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MS LOK: Now I am referring to what Ms Lam remembers.

CHAIRMAN: These are hypothetical questions; right? Your
client's evidence ended right there. There was nothing
to follow on. But now they said this happened
afterwards.

MS LOK: Now let's look at the conversation between
Mr Cheung and yourself. When Mr Cheung gave evidence,
did you hear what he said? When Mr Cheung Tat Yam gave
evidence, did you listen to what he said?

A. Yes.

Q. The letter was issued on 9 December 2015, and he asked
why you had such delivery notes, and you told him at
that time that you made those four delivery notes.

A. Can you repeat yourself? I cannot hear the date.

Q. Before the hearing, Mr Cheung talked to you about these
four delivery notes, and he asked how you came up with
those notes, and at that time you told him that you
created them; right?

A. I did not respond on that day.

Q. You said you would go back and think about it, and then
you admitted that you created the forged documents, and
then counsel asked you, at that time, did you say that
Mr Yung instructed you and you said no?

A. Yes.

Q. That is correct. Then you gave a response and I would
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like to clarify that. You said, "If I had thought about
it and if I was not sure, how could I answer?" That's
what you said just now. Do you recall that?

CHAIRMAN: I don't understand.

MS LOK: The Commissioner counsel asked the witness on many
occasions. He said you said Mr Yung instructed you, and
your boss asked you, you admitted, and why didn't you
say that Mr Yung instructed you? I am just reminding
the witness of her statement. She said, "If I had
thought and if I was not sure, how could I answer?"

CHAIRMAN: If I thought about it and if I was not sure, how
could I answer you?

MS LOK: It's in the record, Chairman. We can check that.

Then my question was: Ms Lam, would it be the case
that, at that time, you weren't sure that, on the
communication on 16 and 17 July, Mr Yung had really
hinted to you that you should create a forged document
and that's why you were not able to communicate with
Mr Cheung?

A. Are you saying should I agree or disagree? I disagree.

Q. But as a matter of fact, at that time, you did not
mention that to Mr Cheung. Why was that the case?

A. I think I answered that just now. At the time, I had to
disclose this to Mr Cheung. I was under a lot of

pressure. I was under duress, and I did not think of
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how to present the whole matter and I could not give so
many details.

Q. It's not a matter of detail. You are saying now that
somebody instructed you, and you could have told
Mr Cheung that Mr Yung instructed you. How much detail
do we need?

A. I don't know why I didn't say that. But I think
I didn't say it.

Q. My last question is: do you remember when Lo & Lo
Solicitors, on 10 October they had written to
Mr Cheung's lawyers and one paragraph had requested that
you gave evidence to this Commission; do you remember
that?

A. Could you repeat your question?

Q. Lo & Lo Solicitors, on 10 December, had written to
Mr Cheung's lawyers, requesting that you give evidence.
So, in that letter, it had referred to these four forged
documents. My question is, why did you only wait until
the day before yesterday? Only when you produced the
witness statement did you mention that Mr Yung had
hinted that you create the forged documents. Why did
you

A. It took me time to recall what happened over those few
months. A lot of things occurred. I needed to organise

myself.
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Q. So you had to go back and think a long time, you had to
recall the events and —--

CHAIRMAN: What do you mean, "construct"?

MS LOK: You had to think very hard what happened. It was
not just a spur of the moment --

A. What do you mean, spur of the moment reaction?

Q. Well, you said you were aware that the four forged
documents, this affair, had been disclosed and you
admitted to Mr Cheung, and then there has been
a solicitor's letter asking you to give evidence. What
was your immediate reaction? Why didn't you relate the
truth, which is that Mr Yung instructed you? Why did
you have to wait so long?

A. I had to think, at the time, what he said -- I had to
try my best to recall, even though I still can't recall
some 1issues about what the time frame was, what the
conditions were; I had to think about it.

Q. Did you talk to anyone else; the lawyers?

A. The lawyers.

MS LOK: I don't have any other questions.

Re-examination by MR L HUI

MR L HUI: Chairman, if the other senior counsel and counsel
don't have questions, I would like to re-examine.

Ms Lam, the Commission counsel had directed you to

your witness statement. So please proceed to page 151

-92 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

A.

of bundle L.

We are concerned with paragraph (b) (ii). If you
may, please read (ii). The original statement says that
Mr Yung, after attending the meeting, had told you that
Paul Y's request -- do you see that? The Commission
counsel had asked you, at the end of page 151, the
third-last line -- it says:

"At that time, I did not know what the purpose and
reason for asking for the notes were."

First of all, you did not attend the Paul Y meeting?
That's correct.

Then you said you don't know why Paul Y had asked for
the notes and what the use of these notes were for.

So you did not, as a matter of fact, know why they
wanted these notes? As a matter of fact, do you know
what was the use of these -- why did Paul Y want these
notes? So, this paragraph, especially in the whole
paragraph (b) (ii), is that accurate?
Yes, it's accurate.
The counsel representing Mr Yung asked you did Lo & Lo
Solicitors, on 10 December, issue a letter to Golden Day
Engineering.

You engaged ONC Lawyers in the middle of December?

That's correct.

MR L HUI: I have no further questions.
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CHAIRMAN: You have given evidence. You may leave, Ms Lam.
(The witness withdrew)

CHAIRMAN: Okay, let's take a ten-minute break.

(3.24 pm)
(A short adjournment)
(3.41 pm)
MR WU: (In English) Mr Chairman and Mr Commissioner

(Via interpreter) I now summon the site supervisor from
Golden Day, Mr Hui Wang San.
MR HUI WANG SAN (affirmed)

CHAIRMAN: Please be seated.

MR WU: Chairman, Mr Hui has a request. He said he has
an issue with his eyes and he has to wear sunglasses, so
would you allow that?

CHATIRMAN: Yes.

Examination-in-chief by MR WU

MR WU: Mr Hui, the Commission came up with a verbal
submission of 3 December 2015. This can be found in L1
of the bundle, page 115. Do you have this written
statement before you?

A. Yes.

Q. I now read your witness statement before the Commission:

"l. I am the site supervisor of Golden Day

Engineering Co Ltd and I was responsible for the

plumbing works of Hung Hom Estate Phase 2 and
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Wing Cheong Estate. I have been in the plumbing
industry for more than 20 years and I am a registered
skilled worker in plumbing.

2. In the construction of Hung Hom Estate Phase 2
and Wing Cheong Estate for the plumbing works, I made
orders to the relevant procurement staff of Golden Day
and I requested for the solder to be delivered on site,
and the Golden Day staff would procure to the suppliers.

3. Before the incident, I knew that the solder used
for connecting fresh water pipes must be lead-free, but
I didn't know that leaded solder is available in the
market.

4. Based on site progress, I would ask procurement
staff from Golden Day by phone to order the required
amount of solder and the delivery dates. Since these
two sites have completed construction some time ago,

I cannot recall the details of my orders to the
procurement staff of Golden Day. However, it is
generally agreed in the plumbing trade that solder is

a sundry item. Before this incident, the trade
generally did not pay attention to the fact that solder
available in the market might contain lead, and at that
time I wasn't aware that leaded solder was available in
the market. So, when I made the orders, I did not

specifically mention that the delivered solder must be
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the same as the sample submitted to the Housing
Department and that it must be lead-free.

5. According to site progress, I made orders to
Golden Day's procurement staff by phone of the required
quantities of solder to be delivered to the sites, and
Golden Day's procurement department would make the
orders to the suppliers for these two sites, Prosperity
Building Co Ltd. Prosperity would arrange for the
materials to be delivered to the sites. Since
Golden Day's procurement staff were responsible for
ordering the materials from the suppliers, I did not
directly liaise or approach Prosperity. In preparing
this witness statement, I had enquired of the
procurement staff of Golden Day, and they said they
could not remember whether they mentioned to Prosperity
that the solder purchased is to be used to connect fresh
water pipes.

6. Prosperity Engineering would choose the
soldering material supplier. I do not know how
Prosperity would choose its soldering material supplier.
I only know that Golden Day is one of the suppliers of
Prosperity, and my understanding is that Golden Day,
they also are not clear since when Prosperity would
purchase soldering material.

7. Since Golden Day Engineering procuring staff
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contact Prosperity and place orders with Prosperity
directly, therefore I personally do not need to report
the purchase or procurement of solder material from
Prosperity. I do not have to report back to Golden Day.
Prosperity would deliver goods to the construction site
and would also include a delivery note. According to my
understanding, Prosperity would issue the invoice to
Golden Day Engineering for settlement.

8. I do not know the composition of tin solder and
tin strip. I only know that it is used as a soldering
component. Therefore, I do not remember, in these two
construction sites, whether it was tin wire or tin strip
that was used to connect the plumbing.

9a. Prior to this incident, I was not aware of the
brand WL50 flat tin strip, and I also not aware whether
there were other brand names of tin strips. I was not
sure whether this brand name contained or did not
contain lead. Prosperity also did not recommend this
brand name to me.

b. When I placed an order for soldering material to
Golden Day procurement staff, I did not specify what
brand name had to be used, since I did not participate
in whether WL50 flat tin strip or other tin strips were
used.

10. I also do not know whether the material
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provided was actually the material that Prosperity had
described and whether it had contained lead.

11. Since I was not sure of the difference between
tin strip and tin wire, and I also did not know whether
the material had contained lead, I only thought that tin
strip and tin wire had the same use, therefore I did not
pay attention to whether the construction site had
actually used this.

12. Each construction site will also have a sample
flat and they would have to be approved by the main
contractor and the Housing Department, and during
construction the main contractor and Housing Department
will also inspect that. I am also not aware whether the
main contractor and the Housing Department would conduct
regular checks on whether the soldering material was in
use or whether it contained lead."

This statement was signed 3 December 2015.

Do you wish to adopt this as your evidence?

A. Yes.

Q. So, Mr Hui, I would like to refer you to bundle S1,
page 78. Mr Hui, on page 78, we have a table. 1In this
table, it refers to Hung Hom Estate Phase 2. Prosperity
was supplying soldering materials for this project. So
do you see, in the first two lines of this table, it

says it's FRY lead-free tin wire, and then the next two
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items are WL50 flat tin strips, and then the last two
items are FRY lead-free tin wire. So can you explain to
the Commission -- or first of all, I would like to ask
you, when you placed an order with Golden Day
Engineering, what did you order? How did you order?

A. I asked for tin strips.

Q. Did you place an order for tin wire?

A. No, I would not. I don't think I would.

Q. So could you explain to the Commission why do we have
tin wire and tin strip orders in this table?

A. I don't know how they came up with this. They might
have made a mistake.

Q. So your evidence is that when you called Golden Day to
place an order, you would only ask for tin strips and
not tin wire, but you don't know why, as a matter of
fact, they ordered tin wire and tin strips. Do you know
the difference between tin wire and tin strips?

A. No.

Q. So in your mind they are the same thing?

A. Yes.

Q. I would like to refer you to the same bundle. If you
turn to page 98, do you see "High-temperature tin
strip", that item?

A. Yes, I see "High-temperature tin strip".

Q. Page 98.
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A. Yes, I see it.
Q. It's the second item. It says in Chinese,
"High-temperature tin strip".

Now, high-temperature tin strip, can you explain
what's the difference between regular tin strip and
high-temperature?

A. It's the same thing. No difference.

Q. So the so-called high-temperature tin strip, it's still
tin strip, in your mind?

A. Yes, it's still tin strip.

Q. So, when you do the soldering work, do you make
that differentiation?

A. No.

MR WU: I have no further questions.

Cross—-examination by MR KHAW

MR KHAW: Mr Hui, you have more than 20-plus years'
experience in the plumbing industry.

A. Yes.

Q. So before you were in the plumbing industry, what were
you doing?

A. I had also worked in hardware.

Q. What types of hardware?

A. Watch components, wristwatch components. But it was
a very short time.

Q. In paragraph 1 of your statement, it says you are
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a registered and experienced technician. So this is the
so-called big licence, the skilled worker licence. When
did you receive this qualification?

A. 1994-1995. Around 1994-1995.

Q. So getting that technician licence, you had to take
a test. Did you have to take a course?

A. No.

Q. Where did you take your course -- or where did you take
your exam?

A. CITA.

Q. Before the exam, the test, did you receive course
material?

A. No.

Q. What was the test about?

A. It was a skill test, and a little written test.

Q. What was in the written test?

A. It was about plumbing engineering.

Q. Multiple choice?

A. Yes, multiple choice.

Q. So it was about skills and materials in plumbing?

A. Yes.

Q. Was there a soldering test? So, when you took the test,
when you took the soldering test, what types were
drinking water pipes?

A. Copper pipes, copper tubes.

-101 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

Q. What type of soldering material was used? Is it this
one? (Indicating).

A. Not this one.

Q. Just for the record, I just showed Mr Hui the green FRY
roll, not this one.

Let me show you. In your tests, did you use these
strips? (Indicating).

A. Yes.

Q. For the record, I have demonstrated WL50 tin strip, flat
tin strip.

I would like to ask you, during that test, what did
you call this material, the soldering material?

A. Tin strip.

Q. Do you know what the composition was?

A. No.

CHAIRMAN: What did you say?

A. I don't know.

MR KHAW: I would like to ask you -- so, when you took the
licence exam, the qualified plumber, did you use
lead-free tin strip; did you know anything about that?

A. No.

Q. So you have been in the field for 20 years. You have
heard about lead-free solder, have you?

A. Well, as far as I know, all --

CHAIRMAN: What did you say?
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A. All tin strips are lead-free.

MR KHAW: All of them are lead-free. So the first time you
heard about lead-free tin strip or lead-free soldering
material -- when was the first time you heard about
lead-free, the first time you heard "lead-free", when
was that?

A. After the excess lead in water incident, I heard
about -- because in the past we called it tin strip.

CHAIRMAN: So you are saying, after this incident, you were
aware that there was a lead-free soldering material?

A. We are talking about the phrase "lead-free".

CHAIRMAN: So before that you never talked about lead-free?

A. We just talked about tin.

CHAIRMAN: So, after this incident, so you were aware that
you have lead-free solder and leaded solder.

MR KHAW: So, in other words, you only recently, after this
excess lead in water incident, clearly are aware that
there is lead-free solder?

A. Yes.

Q. Coming back to paragraph 3 of your statement, the first
sentence:

"Prior to this incident, I knew that soldering
material used to connect drinking water pipes had to be
lead-free."

So it says before the incident, before the excess
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lead in water incident, you knew that drinking water
pipes had to use lead-free soldering material. You were
aware? And now you said you only knew about it after
the incident.

A. No, no. Before I knew that tin strips were used, so my
understanding is that tin strips don't contain lead. It
doesn't contain lead.

Q. So what you mean is that before -- your understanding
was that it was made of tin, and tin is not lead, and as
such it doesn't contain lead? That was your opinion;
right? You made it very clear in your witness statement
that before the incident, you knew that the solder used
to connect fresh water pipes must be lead-free. So,
before the incident, had you ever heard about lead-free
solder?

A. No. No.

Q. And you said they were tin strips and you assumed they
were lead-free?

A. They must be lead-free.

Q. Before you obtained the qualified plumber credential,
did you have a master or teacher or a mentor?

A. Yes.

Q. You have to learn how to apply the solder; right? So,
when you were an apprentice, you used this WL50 tin

strip; right?
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A. Yes.

Q. When was the first time you saw this type of green FRY
lead-free solder?

A. It was gquite a long time ago.

Q. When was it?

A. Around five to six years ago.

Q. When you first saw this, who showed you this type of
soldering? On what occasion did you first learn about
this type of solder?

A. It was delivered to a construction site.

Q. And you were present at the time?

A. Yes.

Q. After you first saw this type of solder, did you try to
find out more about it?

A. No.

Q. You were at the site at the time the workers used this
type of solder; right?

A. Both were used.

CHAIRMAN: Both were mixed or both were used?

A. So, in my opinion, both types, both contain tin.

MR KHAW: But you say both are used? So, in other words,
both had been used together since four or five years
ago?

A. If we had both, we would use both, and we would use

whatever was available.
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Q. I don't really understand what you meant by "using
both". You said you would find both types of solder at
the sites. You would see rolls of solder wire and
solder strips?

A. We brought them in.

CHAIRMAN: Now, you have 20 years of experience. Did you
mainly work on public estate projects or private
estates?

A. Usually predominantly public housing estates.

CHAIRMAN: So that's the bulk of your experience in the past
20 years. As you know, public rental estates only use
a single type of material.

Now we are taking evidence, whether from workers,
plumbers. The Housing Department only approved one type
of solder. There isn't a second option, and they only
approved the use of solder wires.

A. I never knew that samples had to be submitted.

CHAIRMAN: So you never knew samples had to be submitted?

A. That's right.

MR KHAW: For public rental estates, the submission of
samples by the plumbing subcontractor, you were aware of
this procedure; right?

A. Yes, but I wouldn't do it personally.

Q. Did you know that samples had to be submitted for solder

as well?
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A. No, I have not heard about it.
Q. How long have you been with Golden Day?
A. More than ten years.
Q. Within the ten-odd years, how many public rental estates
have you been involved in?
A. Around four or five.

CHAIRMAN: I'm sorry, I have a question as well, from

page 79 of S1. For the Hung Hom Estate, only one reel
was delivered. It was delivered to Hung Hom Estate
Phase 2. It has the words "Sample, free of charge".
So, if no sample had to be submitted, what's the point
of delivering the solder? The delivery address is
Phase 2 Hung Hom Estate, China State Construction.

I think the delivery note will follow what's said here.
So what's the point of having this?

I think this was submitted to the company for the sake

of sample submission.

CHAIRMAN: This is an invoice. This is not a delivery note.

A.

But then it has the words "delivery address"; do you see
that, on the bottom-left? So if no sample submission is
ever necessary, what's the point of delivering one reel
of solder?

No, I didn't know that samples had to be submitted.

CHAIRMAN: But you were the person on charge of the site at

Hung Hom Estate.
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A. No. It says "Hung Hom Estate" but it wasn't necessarily
delivered to that site.

CHAIRMAN: All right. So please go on. The delivery
address says "Phase 2 Hung Hom Estate, China State".

A. It might not be necessarily delivered to the site; it
might be delivered to the office.

CHAIRMAN: Please go on. All right. Never mind. If you
say it wasn't the case, then so be it.

MR KHAW: Now, you are a site supervisor. For Hung Hom
Estate Phase 2 and Wing Cheong Estate, for the plumbing
works, were you on site every day?

A. Barring any illnesses, yes.

Q. In your company, apart from yourself, was Mr Chau also
responsible?

A. This had nothing to do with him.

Q. So you were in charge of these two sites. Were you the
only site supervisor at these two sites from Golden Day
at that time?

A. Yes.

Q. You were in charge of supervising the plumbing works and
their progress; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you look at the workers to see whether they are
doing a good job?

A. Yes.
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Q.

A.

When materials arrive, you would check whether they are
correct?

Yes.

In order to verify whether the materials delivered are

correct, you had to know which materials are permitted?
Right, vyes.

Do you have some sort of checklist or document to show
that for each project, which materials are to be used?

No.

CHAIRMAN: There's no such list; right?

A.

Yes.

MR KHAW: You have no document whatsoever?

A.

Q.

We don't have a checklist.

Do you have any documents? What kind of documents? You
said there is no checklist. Apart from checklists, are
there any other documents to show that?

No.

Just now, you said you would look at the progress and
workmanship of the workers and verify the delivery
materials. How can you tell whether they are correct if
you don't have any documents?

For the first batch of delivery, I would ask -- when

they made the orders, they would --

CHATIRMAN: Can you repeat yourself, please.

A.

I don't know which brands were used. When the orders
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were made, only quantities were specified.

CHAIRMAN: So you merely tell them the type of item you want

A.

MR

and the quantities? For the actual items that arrive,
you assume that the office had ordered the right items,
so when they arrive you don't have to check them; they
must be correct?

Yes, basically.

KHAW: You said you wrote down the orders. You wrote
them down yourself?

I wrote down the quantities.

For plumbing works, how many types of components or
parts would be delivered?

There are a lot.

So would you write them down one by one, for example
copper pipes, you just have to write "copper pipes", and
they would know what you mean?

Yes.

Just now, you said you would verify the materials that
are delivered, but in fact you didn't know what to
expect?

Yes.

If orders had to be made, for example, for solder, would
you have to write down the quantities ordered?

These are only very small quantities. After we used

them, you would ask them -- we would just tell the
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number of boxes. It's not about the quantity.

Q. Every time you call the office to order solder, who
would you talk to?

A. Sometimes Ms Mok would pick up the phone, sometimes it
was Ms Lam. So it was either Ms Mok or Ms Lam.

Q. So you would call them. How would you describe the
solder?

A. I would say solder -- I need solder wires.

Q. What about the gquantity? For example, 50 boxes?

A. If I required five boxes, I would say five. If I needed
ten, I would say ten.

Q. So the unit was the number of boxes?

A. Right.

Q. How many rolls are there in one box?

A. There are a lot of rolls or reels.

Q. As you know, how many reels are there in one box?

A. What do you mean, how much? It's by unit.

CHAIRMAN: You can describe it whatever you like, you can
use number of rolls or the total length.

A. Around 100 or so pieces. That was just an approximate
number.

Q. How can you tell?

A. So it was just an approximation; I didn't know.

Q. How can you tell?

A. That there are about 1,000 pieces.
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CHAIRMAN: Well, did you open them?

A. Yes, I did.

MR KHAW: So the boxes look like this; right? And it says
on the box "UK WL50 solder strips".

A. I didn't pay attention to the words.

Q. But the label is very big. You never looked at them?

A. Only after the incident I was -- these words were
displayed. Before, we didn't pay attention. After the
incident, we knew about this WL50.

Q. For such boxes, you said you saw them before, and it
contains soldering strips. You say roughly there are
100-odd strips.

So, first of all, these boxes, do they have labels,
have these stickers? You've seen many of these boxes?

A. Well, I have never paid attention to the exterior.

Q. So you have never seen these labels?

A. I have never paid particular attention.

Q. Have you seen these square boxes in the site, where they
contain these green rolls?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Have you seen these green labels?

A. No, I have never paid attention to the labels.

Q. Do you recall how many rolls are in a box of 20-odd
rolls? So when you place your order, you Ms Mok,

Ms Lam -- did you refer to "rolls"?
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A.

We asked for boxes. We don't have to count the number
of rolls.

You refer to boxes. So what makes you think that tin
strip -- when you refer to tin strip, your company's
staff will understand what you mean? You say there are
these long boxes and square boxes.

Well -- I don't understand. Could you repeat it? Are
you referring to at the beginning of the construction or
in the middle of construction?

So initially, and there's a middle phase and there's

an end phase.

In the beginning, there's nothing. There's nothing in
the beginning.

Of course.

You have to call, we have to place an order, and then
they'll have the materials delivered. It won't appear
automatically. So if they have not been delivered,

of course I have not seen them.

No, I am asking, at the construction site, you have seen
these two types of boxes, they contain different stock,
with different material.

Yes.

So when you call your procurement colleagues, how would
they know whether you are referring to this one or the

other one?
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A. I really don't know whether they know. I placed
an order for so many boxes of tin strip.

Q. So, at the site, when you take delivery, sometimes you
get many boxes.

A. Only a few boxes.

Q. So, when a few boxes arrive -- so at the site you would
have seen these and those boxes. So had you ever
doubted, "Why do we have two types of solder? Which is
the correct one?"

A. I feel they both are the same.

Q. How can the two be same? Their appearance is different.

A. I know, but the application, it's the same.

CHAIRMAN: So that would suffice?

A. Well, we don't know. That's not the case. Sometimes
you have to install sanitaryware, so if we have two
different types, that's different. These are minor
metalware. We don't pay a lot of attention to that.

MR KHAW: So anything will do; right? Is that what you're
meaning? So high-temperature solder, the tin strip;
which one is high-temperature tin strip?

A. Now I know.

CHAIRMAN: At the time, you said there was no difference.
You said high-temperature and regular were the same
thing, same application?

A. Same application.
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CHAIRMAN: Then what circumstances would you have to use
high-temperature?

A. There's no difference.

CHAIRMAN: So when you placed the phone call, why did you
specify high-temperature?

A. We never said high-temperature.

CHAIRMAN: Was this written by office staff?

A. I placed the order by phone, it's the office staff.

Day 34

Q. So they made that up? You said "Tin strip" and for some

whatever reason they added "high-temperature"?
A. I don't know why they did that.
Q. So have you heard of high-temperature tin strip?
A. I've heard of that.
Q. When did you hear about that?

A. I can't remember.

CHAIRMAN: Well, the thin flat strip and the roll, is there

any difference in temperature?

A. No, not much difference.

CHAIRMAN: So there's not much difference.

MR KHAW: If we give you a multiple choice, we have the
strip and we have the roll, which one is the
high-temperature one, at that time, when you took the
test?

A. I think the rolls are high-temperature strip.

Q. Why would you choose the roll as high-temperature?
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A. Well, that's -- I don't know. That's hard to explain.

CHAIRMAN: If we have multiple choice, A, B, C, it's not A,
it's not C

MR KHAW: And you say now you know what high-temperature,
it's the lead-free solder wire, tin wire -- how do you
know that the high-temperature is lead-free?

A. Well, ever since the news broke out. It seems I don't
think we ever discussed that high-temperature --

Q. Well, you never discussed it, but it's industry
knowledge now.

So, within the trade, you have conversations?

A. Yes, of course we have conversations.

Q. So set aside the industry talk. What about within the
company? Have you discussed -- did they place a wrong
order or did they use a wrong material? Within the
company, did you discuss?

A. I would ask. I would ask the company. I asked the
company.

CHAIRMAN: I didn't hear you.

MR KHAW: Did you submit that sample?

You asked the company?

A. Yes.

Q. That was after the incident?

A. Yes.

Q. Who did you ask?
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A. I asked Mr Wong.

Q. Did you mention that to the boss, Mr Cheung-?

A. These are minor details; we don't have to bother him.

Q. What about Mr Yung?

A. No. After the incident, the procurement, Mr Wong, he's
more familiar with this.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Wong is more familiar?

A. He's been following these documents.

MR KHAW: So did you ask Mr Wong, "Did you submit this
soldering material sample?" He said "Yes". So which
sample did he submit?

A. The green one, the green roll.

Q. Then what was your response?

A. Then there's no way I could follow up.

Q. You placed the order and -- so you are saying -- you are
blaming the procurement department. They did not
clarify it with you. So you are blaming the company,
they submitted the sample but they didn't tell you; is
that right?

A. No, that's not relevant.

CHAIRMAN: So you are saying the company procurement
department, they knew what to purchase?

A. I don't know whether they knew, but after I asked them,
they said they did submit the sample.

CHAIRMAN: So that means they knew, right?
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A. I don't know whether they knew, but I asked them
afterwards and they said yes.

CHAIRMAN: From that answer you can deduce that the company
was aware what material had to be used, but when you
asked for that material, they gave you the wrong
product. Is that the case?

A. I dare not respond. I don't know whether they knew or
not. I cannot confirm.

CHAIRMAN: We don't need to be absolutely certain. We can
be relatively sure what happened. So you had asked
Mr Wong and he said that they had submitted a sample of
the green product. Did you tell Mr Wong, "Why didn't
you tell us what happened?" Did you ask him? "Why
didn't you tell us which sample you submitted?"

A. We had mentioned that.

MR KHAW: So what was Mr Wong's response? How did he
respond?

A. Well, it was ambiguous. He --

Q. He gave you an ambiguous response?

A. An ambiguous response.

Q. What do you mean by "ambiguous"?

CHAIRMAN: Like how you are behaving today?

A. He said that he definitely submitted a sample.

MR KHAW: Yes, I know, and then you asked him, "Why didn't

you tell us?", and then you said he was ambiguous. So
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how did he respond? Why didn't he tell you?

A. I don't know how to answer your question, because he
gave me an ambiguous response, because I couldn't fathom
his response.

CHAIRMAN: So in fact did he --

A. I don't think he answered.

CHAIRMAN: He didn't respond?

A. That was the case, he didn't respond.

CHAIRMAN: We will have to continue next week. We will
adjourn tomorrow, Mr Hui, so please return at 10 am on
Monday morning. You can leave now.

Hang on, I would like to refer to the submission
issue. On the last occasion, I said I had my
requirements for the initial submissions. Does anyone
have anything to add?

(The witness withdrew)

MR SHIEH: Mr Pennicott has submitted his client's views and
he would prefer I start first.

He had asked that, first, Mr Chairman's request
yesterday, that is the four major contractors, you would
like those solicitors to submit in writing their
evidence and their analysis of the evidence. I think
they would prefer a proper letter rather than just a
transcript to follow. That was the first request.

The second request was they would like to know the
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witness schedule for next week, up till all the
suppliers and all the plumbers, and the timetable for
the remaining witnesses. Mr Pennicott would also
represent other contractors and would like to know what
witnesses would be arranged in the upcoming weeks. He

would like to prepare for them.

CHAIRMAN: Okay. Let's deal with the second request.

MR

SHIEH: He put forward this request before the afternoon

session.

CHAIRMAN: Regarding your first question, basically, if you

MR

want it in writing, I don't see why you need that,
because I already have mentioned on the last occasion --
I will repeat myself -- verbal instruction and written
submission, there's no difference. You wouldn't ask the
court for what he wants in writing.

PENNICOTT: (In English) Mr Chairman, if I may --
obviously I wasn't here on Tuesday afternoon when you
floated this idea -- I, with the greatest of respect,
have read the English transcript and I have formed the
view that, with the greatest of respect, it is not
precisely clear what it is the Commission is asking the
contractors for. That's borne out by the fact that,
having discussed it with my learned junior and my
solicitors, internally we disagree with precisely what

it is the Commission is asking for.
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I have also discussed it with Mr McCoy, and he and
I can't agree precisely what it is the Commission is
asking for.

So we just thought, so there's absolute clarity
internally, within each of the four contractors, and
externally, between the four contractors, that we know
precisely what it is that the Commission is after.

We have no problem in principle in providing the
interim submissions, but we do think that absolute
clarity is required as to what the Commission wants.

On the second point, that's just a logistical
question. If --

CHAIRMAN: Let me tell you the first point first, on the
kind of submissions I am looking for.

MR PENNICOTT: Sure.

CHAIRMAN: I want the main contractors to give us interim
submissions, and these submissions include summaries of
evidence of the main contractors, followed by the second
part, which are submissions from the main contractors on
the knowledge or lack of knowledge on the use of
non-lead-free solder. You said there was no awareness.

Let me put it this way. We haven't heard from
Ho Biu Kee yet, but I can say now that main contractors
must make submissions on their knowledge of lack of use

of non-lead-free solder by plumbing subcontractors, and

-121 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 34

MR

in this respect you might have to provide a summary of
the subcontractors' evidence, from the main contractor's
point of view.

And for subcontractors, I haven't reached there yet.
Subcontractors involve two subcontractors in person, Sso
I drew the line there. So that's why I said the main
contractors had to prepare such submissions, and these
submissions must be submitted by Friday, before New
Year. They must be submitted to myself via my
secretaries. I would not upload those submissions to
our website on the same day. The reason is that I don't
want them to be uploaded in batches, because there's the
possibility that people might learn from each other how
the submission is written.

So this is about knowledge or lack of knowledge.
After taking in all the evidence, the main contractors
can have another submission on anything else not touched
on. For instance, on the Housing Authority, Water
Supplies Department, they could be discussed in the
final submission.

PENNICOTT: (In English) Mr Chairman, it was the first
part of that that I was concerned with. We have no
difficulty with the knowledge point, both from the
perspective of the main contractor's evidence and such

evidence as there is from the subcontractors. It was
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the words which were in the previous transcript on this
point, and have been repeated now, and these submissions
"include summaries of evidence of the main contractors".
If that means summaries of all the evidence, on all

topics, that is not something that certainly my clients
believe we can achieve by 5 February. Yes, we can do
the knowledge point, but "include summaries of evidence
of the main contractors on all topics"

CHAIRMAN: Can you be more specific or give us an example?
All the contractors have given evidence.

MR PENNICOTT: (In English) No, no, no. So far as
China State is concerned, in terms of giving an interim
submission on the question of knowledge regarding leaded
or unleaded solder, no problem. But if, for example,
China State -- we've got all sorts of issues on
Kai Ching, not related specifically to the question of
knowledge of the main contractors.

CHAIRMAN: So what is it about? Are you referring to the
main contracts vis-a-vis Housing Authority? Are you
referring to those issues?

MR PENNICOTT: (In English) Yes, all those types of issues.

CHAIRMAN: You don't have to talk about those at this stage.
You can wait for the final submission.

So, for the issues vis-a-vis the Housing Authority,

I don't know what you are going to talk about. Maybe
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it's about water supply. So you can wait until the
latter stage.

MR PENNICOTT: (In English) But is what you are asking, with
respect, simply on the question of knowledge, or does it
go wider than that?

CHAIRMAN: Basically, yes. I anticipate what the main
contractors will say will be included in the interim
submission. For instance, the main contract between the
Housing Authority and yourself, China State
Construction, the liability is imposed and the
specifications imposed on yourselves, and how do you
discharge your liabilities or responsibilities on
specifications, and what would you do.

If I follow your line of questioning correctly,
basically what you are saying is that it has nothing to
do with me and it's back to somebody else. Is that the
case? So, basically, that's what happens.

So, for the interim submission, focus on the
majority of your cross-examination. So far, gquestions
asked of the Housing Authority, whether it's the deputy
director or someone else -- you can wait for a later
before you discuss those things. Right now the focus is
on knowledge or lack of knowledge. The reason is that
the Housing Authority might send someone else to give

further evidence. As we know, the assistant director of
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MR

the Housing Authority and their CBSE, for copper pipes
implemented between 2002 and 2005, the people involved
will still come back, so you don't have to touch on
those issues at this stage.

SHIEH: From what I understand, for evidence set in stone
and issues we can put to bed, include whether or not the
main contractors know that leaded solder was used, but
there are still a lot of unsolved issues. For example,
policy-wise or when we think ahead what can be done, and
the responsibilities of the WSD and HA and who should
shoulder the bigger burden and this kind of thing.

There are a lot of issues to resolve.

But according to what Mr Chairman said, these things
can wait, but what is set in stone is what is known and
what isn't known by the contractors. They can certainly
summarise their own evidence or what other people said
or whether they are knowledgeable. If they criticise
someone of knowing the situation -- for example, Paul Y
might say Golden Day know it, and following up the
evidence or submission -- I can say someone else is in

the know. So it's as simple as that.

CHATIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).

MR

PENNICOTT: (In English) I am sure everybody is more
clear than I am about what's required, and we can see

what's on the transcript. I am still concerned, I have
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to say, about the words "and the submissions include
summaries of evidence of the main contractors".

I accept that I am reading from the English

transcript -- "and these submissions include summaries
of evidence of the main contractors" -- what does that
actually mean? Followed by the second part which is the
knowledge point. We understand the knowledge point.
It's the first point I am concerned about.

CHAIRMAN: Vis-a-vis the knowledge point, if you like.

MR PENNICOTT: Fine. That's helpful.

MR LAM: Chairman, on the submission on knowledge vis-a-vis
main contractors and subcontractors, whether the
subcontractors should be in the know, yes, the summary
of evidence is a grand summary of all the evidence
given, for example, all the evidence given by Shui On.

CHAIRMAN: That's all you have been talking about so far.

MR LAM: We can have other things. Was the summary only
about knowledge?

CHAIRMAN: For Shui On, what else had Shui On talked about?

MR LAM: For example, our system of inspection, the site
checks. Those might be issues.

CHAIRMAN: So, to a certain extent, those form part of your
knowledge; right? So you can include them. We don't
have to go to such a technical level. We don't have to

define things. You can include them, if you like, but
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at this stage I just want to know about this aspect.

For issues of principle or other higher-level issues, we
can wait until a later stage. So I have to decide on
the first terms of reference. From what I have heard so
far, evidence-taking for the first terms of reference
are more or less done. We only have to take in

Ho Biu Kee, the other plumber, Lam Tak Sum, and then we
are basically done; right.

Any other questions?

MR PENNICOTT: (In English) Mr Chairman, on a separate
point, which is the logistical point, I am very
reluctant, I have to say, to say to you today that we
can undertake to do this exercise by 5 February.

I certainly hope we can, and we will, but as Mr Shieh
has indicated, we know broadly speaking what's happening
next week, 1f I can put it that way. What we don't know
is what's happening in the three weeks after that,
leading up to 5 February.

Each of the main contractors are being asked to do
this exercise, have got to deploy their resources both
here at the hearing and doing the submissions and
speaking to people and analysing evidence, and so forth.
So it would be helpful to know what's happening as soon
as possible. If that indication can be given early next

week, then presumably this can then be resolved and we
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can say "yes" or "no" to 5 February or perhaps ask for
a few more days or whatever the position may be.
CHAIRMAN: We should be able to inform you by early next
week or Monday. We can tell you what is going to happen
in the next two or three weeks and what witnesses are we
going to have. Probably we can inform you by early next
week.
Thank you, and see you next Monday.
(4.44 pm)
(The hearing adjourned until 10.00 am

on Monday, 11 January 2016)
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